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THE 

ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST 

LIMITED 

 

The St Andrews Preservation Trust was founded in 1937  

and incorporated in 1938. 

 

Its object is to secure the preservation of the amenities and historic character of  

St Andrews and its neighbourhood. 

 

Membership of the Trust is open on the following terms and conditions: 

Life Membership - A single payment of not less than £180. 

Joint Life Membership - For Husband and Wife, a single payment of not less than 

£240. 

Annual Membership - An annual payment of not less than £18. 

Joint/Family Annual Membership - An annual payment of not less than £30. 

Corporate Membership – An annual payment of  £50  or  more. This  class  of  

membership is available to businesses, institutions, and organisations  wishing  to 

support the work of the Trust. 

Student Membership – An annual membership of £6 for students. 

Subscriptions are due with Application and annually on 1st January. 

Liability of members is limited to one Annual Subscription. 

 

Enquiries and Subscriptions should be addressed to The St Andrews Preservation 

Trust Limited, 4 Queen’s Gardens, St Andrews, Fife KY16 9TA (e-mail: trust@ 

standrewspreservationtrust.org.uk;    Tel.   No.   01334   477152).   Membership 

Application and Donation form, Gift Aid Declaration and  Banker’s  Order forms  are  

available on request or on www.standrewspreservationtrust.org.uk. 

 

In addition to renewing their own membership annually, members are asked to consider 

other ways of helping the Trust in its work for St Andrews, in particular, by introducing  

new  members.  This would be most beneficial, not only financially, but by bringing 

more people into closer contact with the  Trust’s  work.  As  an  encouragement to the  

younger  generation  to participate in the Trust’s efforts to maintain the quality of life 

for their future, Membership can, for example, be taken out on behalf of children and 

grandchildren. 

 

PUBLICATIONS 

 

St Andrews: Preserving the Image                 £6.50 

Saving St Andrews 1937 – 2003: A Short History of the Trust  £3.00 

A Handful of Ghosts                         £2.50 

A Journey Through the Lade Braes                £1.00 

St Andrews Shop Fronts 1820 - 1940                £3.00 
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THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED 
( Limited by Guarantee) 

 

Legal and Administrative Information 

for the year ended 31 December 2014 

 

Honorary President     : Dr R R Steedman OBE 

 

Honorary Vice-Presidents : Dr J M Frew MA DPhil 

               Mrs E J Baxter 

               Miss G L C Falconer 

               Mr R S Murray MA CA MBCS 

 

Chairman of Trustees   : Mr D G Wynd 

 

Vice-Chairmen of Trustees : Mr A W Johnson 

               Dr P J Murray 

Trustees (Co-opted)    : Professor E F Robertson (to May 2014)     

 

Secretary & Legal Advisor : Mr D N Kinnear LLB NP 

               Thorntons Law LLP, Kinburn Castle, St Andrews, KY16 9DR 

 

Honorary Treasurer    : Mr I S Lumsdaine 

 

Stockbrokers        : Speirs & Jeffrey Limited 

               George House, 50 George Square, Glasgow, G2 1EH 

 

Independent Examiner   : Mr I A J Palfrey MA FCCA 

               Henderson Black & Co, Chartered Accountants, Chestney House, 

               149 Market Street, St Andrews, KY16 9PF 

 

Registered Number     : SC020194 

 

Charity Registration No  : SC011782 

 

Registered Office      : 4 Queen's Gardens, St Andrews, KY16 9TA 

               Telephone (01334)  477152 

 

Museum          : 12 North Street, St Andrews, KY16 9PW 

               Telephone: (01334) 477629 

Mr I S Lumsdaine (to May 2014) 

Mr C A McAllister (to May 2014) 

Dr I M Matthews 

Miss A J M Morris OBE 

Dr P J Murray 

Mr W Sangster (from May 2014) 

Mr D K Seeley (from May 2014) 

Mrs J M H Simmers (to May 2014) 

Mr D G Wynd 

Trustees  (Elected)     : Dr D A Barrie 

               Mr J D Beaton (from May 2014) 

               Miss I R T Bennett (from May 2014) 

               Dr W K D Borthwick (from May 2014) 

               Mr R de C Chapman 

               Mrs M E Denyer 

               Mr H I Greenwell (to May 2014) 

               Mr J Peacock 

               Mr A W Johnson 

               Mr S A Kidd 
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THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED 
 

Trustees' Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2014 

 

The Trustees present their Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2014. 

 

STRUCTURE, GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT 

Legal status of Trust 

The Trust is a company limited by guarantee and has no share capital.  The company was incorporated on 5 February 1938.  The 

liability of each member in the event of a winding up is limited to £1.  The Trust is  also  a  charity  registered  in Scotland. 

 

Trustees 

The Trustees during the year under review are noted on page 2. 

 

Purposes of the Trust 

The Trust's Memorandum of Association gives it wide ranging powers to meet its principal object: 'To preserve for the benefit of 

the public the amenities and historic character of the City and Royal Burgh of St Andrews and its neighbourhood'.  Such powers 

include the acquisition, maintenance and restoration of buildings and land. 

 

The Trust also seeks to advance and promote education by exhibits and activities  within  the  St Andrews  Preservation  Trust 

Museum. 

 

Governance 

Any member of the Trust is eligible to become a Trustee.  Nominations are sought in advance of the Annual General Meeting at 

which elections are held and the results announced.  Trustees may also be co-opted to fill casual vacancies or to secure needed 

skills.  The term of office is three years, renewable once only.  Any Trustee who completes six years of service may not seek re-

election until one year has passed. 

 

No external person or body has any right to appoint a Trustee. 

 

No Trustee receives any kind of remuneration but re-imbursement of reasonable expenses incurred on Trust business is allowed 

when previously authorised by the Chairman or a Vice-Chairman and supported by receipts.  

 

Management 

The Trustees are accountable for all aspects of the Trust's activities.  They delegate  considerable  authority  to  a  number  of  

committees but retain firm financial control.  The Trust employs two staff - an Office Administrator and a Museum Curator.  Both 

are employed by the Trust but the Office Administrator has particularly strong links with the Chairman as does the Curator with the 

Convener of the Museum Committee. 

 

OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES 

The Trust's efforts to 'preserve… the amenities and historic character of … St Andrews and its neighbourhood' are focussed through 

the work of its Planning and Environment Committees.  All applications for planning permission within the Town's conservation 

area and many outwith this area are scrutinised by the Planning Committee which frequently makes formal submissions to the local 

authority.  The Environment Committee, often in association with others, such as the Green Belt Forum, seeks  to  protect  the 

landscape setting of the town.  It is also involved in the care of the woodland which is owned by the Trust.   

 

The Trust's Museum seeks to inform and educate locals and visitors, young and old, about the history and culture of St Andrews 

through permanent displays and a series of exhibitions during the year. 

 

Other activities relate to informing members of Trust activities and fund raising. 

 

ACHIEVEMENTS, PERFORMANCE AND FUTURE PLANS 

During 2014, the Trust has continued to pursue its three cardinal objectives: 

• to ensure that any development is in keeping with the character and landscape setting of St Andrews and that appropriate 
planning policies are in place (Planning) 

• to conserve the heritage of St Andrews, especially its social history, and to ensure that this is  communicated  to  present  
generations, through the Trust’s collection of records and artefacts and through talks and publications (Museum) 

• to enhance the appearance and amenity of St Andrews and its surrounds through encouraging improvements to buildings, street 
furniture, vegetation, etc (Environment). 

 

Planning activities have once again been dominated by the campaign to stop Fife Council from building the new Madras College on 

green belt at Pipeland.  With the help of paid and unpaid advisers and with numerous letters of support from Members and the 

public, the Trust mounted vigorous opposition to the Council’s plans.  Nevertheless, by the end of the year, the  Council  had  

approved the detailed plans.  Trustees voted to contribute to the costs of a judicial review, launched by a group of retired Madras 

teachers on the basis that the processes employed to select Pipeland had been seriously flawed.  The outcome is expected around 

March. 

 



In addition, the Trust has continued to scrutinise the flood of planning applications – large and small – affecting St Andrews.  It has 

enjoyed some success with the smaller ones.  However, a block of flats at Abbey Park and private student accommodation on the 

East Sands and in Abbey Walk are going ahead despite the Trust’s objections.  Two major applications exercising the Trust have 

been the extension to Rusack’s Hotel and a visitor centre on the West Sands.  Both were turned down by the Council and have now 

gone to appeal. 
 

In a welcome initiative, the Planning Committee has benefited from contributions to its deliberations by  undergraduates  and  

postgraduates studying town planning at Dundee University.  It is hoped that this collaboration will continue. 
 

The Museum continues to thrive under the skilled and energetic direction of the Curator.  She is supported by Trustees, a large 

number of dedicated volunteers and she benefits from the Museum Mentor’s professional guidance.  More events than ever took 

place; all of them, exhibitions and lectures in particular, were very well received, with record numbers attending; outreach activities 

were also extended.  Crucially, Museums & Galleries Scotland (MGS) renewed its accreditation of the Museum.  In recognition of 

the Museum’s standing, a trainee curator is to work, at MGS cost, on placement at the Museum throughout 2015. 
 

In the Museum garden, work started, and is now almost complete, on rebuilding the dilapidated outhouse, acquired with extra 

ground in 2012.  This will provide a purpose-built facility for the Museum’s prized pictorial collection and an adjacent study area.  

A spacious garden store, to a novel design, has been erected.  This will free up space for other Museum activities.  The garden is 

being re-ordered and re-stocked.  These developments account for most of the unusually high capital expenditure this year.  They 

have largely been funded by grants and individual donations, relieving some of the pressure  on  Trust  funds.   Much  needed  

refurbishment of parts of the Museum building itself is being planned and, funds permitting, will start in 2015. 
 

Activities to enhance the St Andrews environment have continued.  One example was the installation of a plaque to honour the 17th 

century polymath academic, James Gregory.  A brass inset in the pavement below the plaque shows a meridian line, an extension of 

one created by Gregory himself.  Three other plaques planned for the year were unavoidably delayed and are now expected in 2015.  

In a notable development, the Trust has concluded an arrangement with a local firm of tree surgeons for the regular maintenance of 

Boase Wood, thus removing much of the burden of upkeep previously shouldered by volunteers.  The Trust is persisting with its 

goal of converting the unkempt garden at 1 Greyfriars Garden into public space, and some progress has been made during the year.  

The Trust sponsored one of the winners of its 2013 “Pride of Place” Awards for a Scottish Civic Trust “My Place” award. 
 

A full programme of events was again organised this year.  Some of these were specifically targeted to raise funds for the Trust, 

others to be more social or educational.  Hidden Gardens was once again a considerable social and financial success, as too, on a 

smaller scale, were the Autumn Fair and Annual Quiz.  The third Annual Lecture was on the contribution made by the  Third  

Marquess of Bute to the University’s fortunes towards the end of the 19th century.  All other functions played an important part in 

providing congenial and entertaining events for Members and guests. 
 

The seven strategic actions identified in 2013 have remained unaltered this year.  They are reviewed every month by the Policy and 

Resource Committee, ensuring that important changes the Trust wishes to enact receive focused attention. 
 

The St Andrews Town Commission on Housing – a body set up by the Trust in collaboration with five other St Andrews institutions 

– published its report early in the year.  The report has received considerable acclaim.  Among its recommendations was one that a 

new collaborative body, including representation from Fife Council, should be set up to continue the work of the Commission and 

to implement its recommendations.  The new body is expected to be launched during 2015. 
 

The Trust continues to be represented, and play a full part, on other bodies, such as the Pilgrim Foundation,  the  St  Andrews  

Partnership and the Standing Council of East Fife Preservation Societies. 
 

INVESTMENT POLICIES 

Income from the Trust's investments is vital to its financial well-being.  Investment policy is conservative, seeking the maximum 

total return consistent with rather low-risk exposure.  Within this broad policy, the Trust's stockbrokers are asked to provide the 

highest income possible whilst preserving the value of the capital in real terms. 
 

FINANCIAL POSITION AND REVIEW OF THE YEAR 

The year has seen a significant increase in the financial activities of the Trust, with the main emphasis being on restricted funds and 

the new buildings in the Museum garden. 
 

There has been an overall increase in the financial position of the Trust in 2014 of £28,197. The General Fund on ordinary activities 

is showing a decrease at the end of the year of £11,341 which includes an operating deficit of £6,358. The Revaluation Reserve has 

increased by £9,460. The restricted funds are showing an increase of £22,328 and the Endowment Fund has received a further 

£7,750. We have realised losses on investments of £622 and unrealised gains of £4,579. Overall this has the effect of increasing our 

funds by £28,197 (2013 £49,863) to a total carried forward at the year end of £1,099,332. 
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THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED 
 

Trustees' Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2014 (continued) 

ACHIEVEMENTS, PERFORMANCE AND FUTURE PLANS (continued) 



Income from annual subscriptions has been maintained but there have been fewer life memberships taken out during the year. The 

accounting policy is to take the life income in the year it is received so subsequent years’ annual income is affected. 
 

Following the purchase of the ground at the Museum in 2012, it was decided to redevelop the dilapidated washhouse to house our 

large pictorial collection and allow access to it (“the Research Room”); also, to re-order the old drying green as  an  attractive  

addition to the garden. There is an inevitable cost with such a development and a lot of effort was put  into  finding  financial  

assistance for the projects. The satisfactory outcome was that grants and donations totalling £18,625 were  obtained.   During  

discussions on the plans, a decision was taken also to erect a living roof timber building, “the Falconry”, as a garden store, to free 

up valuable space in other outbuildings. This has been funded by the generous donation of £10,306 from Trust members. 
 

Additional funds were received for the endowment fund, bringing that fund up to £10,000 and income from that fund will be used 

for the purpose stated in note 14. 
 

Income from our investment portfolio has benefited this year by three of our holdings making special distributions with the option 

to take this as revenue. We cannot anticipate this every year.  Events income has maintained the same level as last year thanks to 

good weather for Hidden Gardens and the hard work and enthusiasm of the Committees responsible. 
 

A primary purpose of the Trust is to review planning applications and, due to their nature,  we  occasionally  require  external  

assistance due to timescales and the complexity of applications. There is the inevitable cost.  A considerable amount of work has 

been carried out on our properties to ensure that they are maintained in good condition. Every effort is taken to try and monitor all 

items of expense and keep them under control, if possible, but there is the constant upward trend. 
 

Note 13 in the accounts shows that there has been movement in almost all of the restricted funds held  by  the  Trust  with  all  

expenditure being under the conditions of the donors. The accounts are prepared under charity law regulations and, as we have 

capitalised the expenditure on the research room and the Falconry, the funding given for these two buildings will only reduce as 

depreciation is charged annually against the asset.  This makes for a distorted position of these funds. 
 

In total we have capitalised £50,618 of expenditure and this will be written off in future years through our depreciation policies. 
 

TRUSTEES' RESPONSIBILITIES IN RELATION TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The Trustees (who are the directors of the company for the  purposes  of  company  law)  are responsible for preparing the annual 

report and the financial statements  in  accordance  with applicable law and United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Prac-

tice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards). 
 

Company law requires the Trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the 

state of affairs of the charitable company and of its  incoming resources and application of resources, including the income and 

expenditure of the charitable company for that period.  
 

In preparing those financial statements, the Trustees are required to: 

·   select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

·   observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP; 

·   make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

·   state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to  any  material  departures  disclosed  and 

   explained in the financial statements; and  

·   prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate  to presume that the charitable 

   company will  continue in operation. 
 

The Trustees are responsible  for  keeping  proper  accounting  records  which  disclose  with reasonable accuracy at any time the 

financial position of the charitable company and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies 

Act 2006, the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as 

amended).  The Trustees are also responsible  for  safeguarding  the  assets  of  the charitable company and hence for taking reason-

able steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 

SMALL COMPANY EXEMPTIONS 

The Trustees have prepared this report in accordance with the special provisions relating to small companies within Part 15 of the 

Companies Act 2006. 
 

Approved by the Trustees on 22 March 2014 and signed on their behalf by: 
 

 

 

 

Mr D G Wynd 

Chairman 

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED 
 

Trustees' Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2014 (continued) 
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FINANCIAL POSITION AND REVIEW OF THE YEAR (continued) 



I report on the accounts of the charity for the year ended 31 December 2014 which are set out on pages 7 to 13. 

 

Respective Responsibilities of Trustees and Examiner 

The charity’s Trustees are responsible for the preparation of the accounts in accordance with the terms of the Chari-

ties and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as  

amended).   The  charity  trustees  consider  that  the  audit  requirement of Regulation 10(1) (a) to (c) of the Ac-

counts Regulations does not apply.  It is my responsibility to examine the accounts as required under section 44(1) 

(c) of the Act and to state whether particular matters have come to my attention. 

 

This report is made to the Trustees, as a body, in accordance with the terms of my engagement.  My work has been 

undertaken so that I might state to the trustees those matters I am required to state to them in an independent exam-

iner’s report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, I do not accept or assume responsi-

bility to anyone other than the charity and the Trustees for my work or for this report. 

 

Basis of Independent Examiner’s Statement 

My examination is carried out in accordance with Regulation 11 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 

2006 (as amended).  An examination includes a review of the accounting records kept by the charity and a compari-

son of the accounts presented with those records.  It also includes consideration of any unusual items or disclosures 

in  the  accounts,  and  seeks  explanations from the Trustees concerning any such matters.  The procedures under-

taken do not provide all the evidence that would be required in an audit, and consequently I do not express an audit 

opinion on the view given by the accounts. 

 

Independent Examiner’s Statement 

In the course of my examination no matter has come to my attention:- 

 

1.  which gives me reasonable cause to believe that in any material respect the  requirements: 

• to keep accounting records in accordance with Section 44(1) (a) of the 2005 Act and Regulation 4 of 

the 2006 Accounts Regulations, and  

• to prepare accounts which accord with the accounting records and comply with Regulation 8 of the 

2006 Accounts Regulations have not been met, or  

 

2.  to which, in my opinion, attention should be drawn in order to enable a proper understanding of the accounts to 

be reached. 

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED 
 

Report to the Trustees for the year ended 31 December 2014 
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Ian A J Palfrey FCCA  Chestney House 

Partner 149 Market Street 

Henderson Black & Co St Andrews St Andrews 

Chartered Accountants Fife 

 KY16 9PF 
22 March 2015  



General Revaluation Restricted Endowment
Notes Fund Reserve Funds Fund 2014 2013

£ £ £ £ £ £
Incoming Resources
Incoming Resources from generated funds
Activities for Generating Funds:

Sales - Museum, Office & Functions 2 20,602 - - - 20,602 20,060
Voluntary Income:

Ordinary Members' Subscriptions 6,756 - - - 6,756 6,928
Life Members' Subscriptions 240 - - - 240 1,500
Grants & Donations 1,974 - 32,281 7,750 42,005 10,428
Unrestricted Legacies 617 - - - 617 157

Investment Income:
Dividends and Interest 30,989 - 2,090 - 33,079 29,164
Property Rents 6,048 - - - 6,048 6,000

Total Incoming Resources 67,226 - 34,371 7,750 109,347 74,237

Resources Expended
Cost of generating funds

Activities for generating funds 3 3,193 - - - 3,193 2,916
Investment management costs 4 2,678 - - - 2,678 1,600

Charitable Activities 5 65,433 - 11,523 - 76,956 75,207
Governance Costs 6 2,280 - - - 2,280 1,920
Total Resources Expended 73,584 - 11,523 - 85,107 81,643

Net (Outgoing)/Incoming
Resources before transfers (6,358) - 22,848 7,750 24,240 (7,406)

Gross transfers between funds (4,361) 4,361 - - - -
(10,719) 4,361 22,848 7,750 24,240 (7,406)

Other Recognised Gains and Losses
Realised Gains/(Losses) on 
investment assets (622) - - - (622) 2,068
Unrealised Gains/(Losses) on 
investment assets - 5,099 (520) - 4,579 55,201

Net Movement in Funds (11,341) 9,460 22,328 7,750 28,197 49,863

Total Funds brought forward 711,972 314,050 42,863 2,250 1,071,135 1,021,272

Total Funds Carried Forward 700,631 323,510 65,191 10,000 1,099,332 1,071,135

Represented by: General Revaluation Restricted Endowment Total Total
Fund Reserve Funds Fund 2014 2013

£ £ £ £ £ £
Fixed assets 691,681 323,510 60,721 10,000 1,085,912 1,005,127
Current assets 18,493 - 4,470 - 22,963 79,762
Current liabilities (9,543) - - - (9,543) (13,754)

700,631 323,510 65,191 10,000 1,099,332 1,071,135

The notes on pages 9 to 13 form an integral part of these accounts.

The statement of financial activities includes all gains and losses in the year.

All incoming resources and resources expended derive from continuing activities.

The net movement in the General Fund equates to the surplus/(deficit) for the year.

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Statement of Financial Activities (including Income and Expenditure Account)
for the year ended 31 December 2014

TotalUnrestricted
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Notes 2014 2013
£ £ £

Fixed Assets
Tangible assets 7 215,887 169,777
Investment property (at closing market value) 8 200,000 200,000
Investments (at closing market value) 10 670,025 635,350

1,085,912 1,005,127

Current Assets
Stock of Publications & Stationery 4,301 4,412
Debtors and Prepayments 11 2,333 1,208
Cash in Bank and on Hand 16,329 74,142

22,963 79,762

LIABILITIES
CREDITORS: amounts falling due within one year
Creditors 5,777 10,004
Accruals 3,766 3,750

9,543 13,754

Net Current Assets 13,420 66,008
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,099,332 1,071,135

FUNDS
Unrestricted Funds:-
General Fund 700,631 711,972
Revaluation Reserve 323,510 314,050

1,024,141 1,026,022
Restricted Funds:-
Restricted Funds 62,953 40,105
Revaluation Reserve 2,238 2,758

13 65,191 42,863

Endowment Fund 14 10,000 2,250

1,099,332 1,071,135

Trustees' responsibilities:

Mr D G Wynd  (Chairman)

Mr A W Johnson  (Vice-Chairman)

The notes on pages 9 to 13 form an integral part of these accounts.

Company Registration Number: SC020194

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2014

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions applicable to small companies subject to the small companies regime.

Approved by the Trustees on 22 March 2015 and signed on their behalf by:-

For the financial year ended 31 December 2014 the company was entitled to exemption from audit under section 477 of the Companies Act 2006.  No 

- The Trustees acknowledge their responsibilities for complying with the requirements of the Act with respect to accounting records and the preparation of 
- The members have not required the company to obtain an audit of its financial statements for the year in question in accordance with section 476:

8



1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.1 Basis of Preparing the Financial Statements

1.2 Taxation

1.3 Cash flow statement

1.4 Fund accounting

1.5 Incoming resources

1.6 Resources Expended

1.7 Depreciation
(i) Heritable Property

(ii) Alterations to Buildings - straight line method over 7 or 50 years

(iii) Office, Museum and Let Property Fittings and Equipment:
Computer Equipment - straight line method at 25%
Fittings and Other Equipment - reducing balance method at 15%

(iv) Museum Fittings - reducing balance method at 5%

1.8 Balance Sheet values of Investments

2 INCOME FROM ACTIVITIES FOR GENERATING FUNDS 2014 2013
£ £

Events and Functions 10,909 10,698
Museum Entry Donations 3,197 1,994
Museum Income - Sales 3,964 4,970
Office Sales 2,532 2,398

20,602 20,060

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and modified to include the revaluation of investments and are
in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard for Smaller Entities (FRSSE), The Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as
amended) and Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) 2005, and the Companies Act 2006.

for the year ended 31 December 2014

Resources Expended are included in the Statement of Financial Activities on an accruals basis, inclusive of any VAT which cannot be recovered.

Investment property is included at market value at the year end as detailed at Note 8 to the financial statements. Investments are reflected at
market value at the balance sheet date and details are shown at Note 10 to the financial statements.

The Charities SORP requires that provision be made for depreciation of Fixed Assets having a finite useful life. The Trustees are of the opinion
that the properties owned by the Trust have an indefinite life and their aggregate value is considerably in excess of cost. Any depreciation
charge would therefore be immaterial. The Trust has a policy and practice of regular maintenance and repair such that the heritable properties
are kept in a condition to retain their value.

No provision has been made for taxation in the financial statements due to the charitable status.

The charity is entitled to the exemptions available in the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) and is therefore not
required to prepare a cash flow statement.

Funds held by the charity are either unrestricted, restricted or endowment in purpose: Unrestricted funds - these are funds which can be used in
accordance with the charitable objects at the discretion of the trustees. Restricted funds - these are funds that can only be used for particular
restricted purposes within the objects of the charity. Restrictions arise when specified by the donor or when funds are raised for particular
restricted purposes. Endowment funds - these are funds which have been given on the condition that the original capital sum is not reduced, but
the income there from is used for the purpose defined in accordance with the objects of the charity.

All incoming resources are included in the statement of financial activities when the charity is entitled to the income and the amount can be 
quantified with reasonable accuracy.

9



3 RESOURCES EXPENDED ON GENERATING FUNDS 2014 2013
£ £

Expenses of Events and Functions 3,193 2,916

4 RESOURCES EXPENDED ON INVESTMENT INCOME 2014 2013
£ £

Property Letting Expenses 1,592 717
Depreciation: Let Property Fittings & Equipment 69 82

1,661 799
Investment manager charges 1,017 801

2,678 1,600

5 RESOURCES EXPENDED ON CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES 2014 2013
Unrestricted General Fund £ £
Curatorial Costs (including salary) 17,932 16,455
Secretarial Salary and Fees 15,290 16,206
Cost of Goods for Re-sale 1,444 930
Costs of Productions and Publications 3,328 3,057
Heat & Light of Museum 1,708 1,702
Office Heat & Light 952 1,111
Insurance and Rates (including Store at 4 Queens Gardens) 2,543 2,515
Telephone, Postage and Stationery 2,693 2,910
Advertising and Printing of Annual Report 1,777 2,282
Exhibition costs 1,599 527
Expenses of Meetings 805 1,265
Miscellaneous expenses 1,118 871
Subscriptions and Donations 252 1,245
Repairs and Maintenance 5,661 3,939
Woodland Maintenance 5 62
Planning Advisory Fees 4,718 8,761
Depreciation 3,608 2,279

65,433 66,117
Restricted Funds
Museum items purchased (Museum Purchase Fund) 610 271
Plaques and associated expenses (Gordon Christie Legacy)                5,763 2,671
Insurance (Boase Wood Appeal) 195 190
Repairs and Maintenance (Boase Wood Appeal) 912 -
50th Anniversary reception  (Boase Wood Appeal) - 97
Museum information and storage system (Dr J Falconer Fund) 349 1,498
Garden upkeep and maintenance (Mrs D'Arcy Thompson Bequest Fund) 391 1,059
Equipment for Juniors (Soroptimist Fund) - 112
Garden upkeep and maintenance (Miss G. Falconer Fund) 2,372 270
Depreciation  (Miss G Falconer Falconry Fund) 175 -
Pride of Place awards expenses (Pride of Place Fund) - 2,922
Depreciation (Research Room Fund) 656 -
Interior fittings for Research Room (Miss L Walker Fund) 100 -

11,523 9,090
76,956 75,207

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014 (continued)

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Within the foregoing expenses of charitable activities the Trustees regard the employment costs as Support costs.
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6 RESOURCES EXPENDED ON GOVERNANCE
2014 2013

£ £
Independent Examiner's fee 2,280 1,920

7 HERITABLE PROPERTY
4 Queens Museum / 12 Kenly Green 

St Andrews St Andrews Boarhills Total
£ £ £ £

COST:
As at 1 January 2014 78,353 81,809 13,868 174,030
Additions/(Disposals) - 36,884 - 36,884
As at 31 December 2014 78,353 118,693 13,868 210,914

DEPRECIATION:
As at 1 January 2014 9,546 2,381 680 12,607
Charge for year 467 1,006 - 1,473
As at 31 December 2014 10,013 3,387 680 14,080

NET BOOK VALUES
As at 31 December 2014 68,340 115,306 13,188 196,834

As at 31 December 2013 68,807 79,428 13,188 161,423

FURNITURE FITTINGS & EQUIPMENT
Let Property Office Museum Museum Total

£ £ £ £ £
COST:
As at 1 January 2014 2,373 18,732 7,813 4,121 33,039
Additions/(Disposals) - 6,291 2,728 4,715 13,734
As at 31 December 2014 2,373 25,023 10,541 8,836 46,773

DEPRECIATION:
As at 1 January 2014 1,911 13,543 6,950 2,281 24,685
Charge for year 69 2,100 538 328 3,035
As at 31 December 2014 1,980 15,643 7,488 2,609 27,720

NET BOOK VALUES
As at 31 December 2014 393 9,380 3,053 6,227 19,053

As at 31 December 2013 462 5,189 863 1,840 8,354

TOTAL NET BOOK VALUES
As at 31 December 2014 215,887

As at 31 December 2013 169,777

8 INVESTMENT PROPERTY
At Valuation: £
As at 1 January 2014 200,000
Add: Gain on revaluation -
As at 31 December 2014 200,000

The property at 136 South Street, St Andrews was valued by the Trustees at the year end at £200,000.
The historical cost of the investment property is £6,710.

9 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
At 31 December 2014, capital expenditure commitments were as follows: 2014 2013

£ £
Contracted but not provided for in the accounts 10,091 -

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014 (continued)
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10 INVESTMENTS Market Market
Value Bought/ Gains/ Value

Holdings 01/01/14 (Sold) (Losses) 31/12/14
£ £ £ £

25,000 Alliance - Monthly Income 26,050 - 400 26,450
105/190 BB Biotech 9,996 9,511 9,517 29,024

1,525 BHP Billiton 28,502 - (7,327) 21,175
3,225 BP 15,740 - (2,485) 13,255
6,300 BT Group 23,902 - 1,393 25,295
5,600 Centrica 19,471 - (3,847) 15,624
1,788 Compass Group 18,392 - 1,294 19,686

900 Diageo 18,000 - (1,363) 16,637
3,400/- Firstgroup 4,202 (4,269) 67 -
25,450 F & C Commercial Property Trust 30,667 - 4,047 34,714
1,400 Glaxo Smithkline 22,561 - (3,297) 19,264

2,500/- Greggs 10,763 (13,161) 2,398 -
14,933 HICL Infrastructure Co 20,085 - 2,688 22,773
4,275 HSBC Holdings 28,318 - (2,300) 26,018

-/28,500 Legal & General Dynamic Bond - 20,096 (914) 19,182
1,750/3,360 Murray International Trust 18,410 16,918 (854) 34,474

2,500 National Grid 19,700 - 3,253 22,953
17,800/- Newton Global Dynamic Bond 20,320 (20,169) (151) -

16,000 Primary Health Prop 5.375% Bonds 2019 17,026 - 372 17,398
30,000 Provident Financial - 7% Notes 2017 32,758 - (375) 32,383
1,900 Prudential Corp 25,451 - 2,907 28,358

1,400/1,875 Reed Elsevier 12,586 4,467 3,572 20,625
2,700/3,400 Rexam 14,324 5,088 (3,983) 15,429

900/1,075 Royal Dutch Shell - 'B' shares 20,520 4,178 (693) 24,005
19,509 Sarasin Intl Equity Inc Fund 22,611 - 1,541 24,152

7,284/9,684 Schroder Oriental Income Fund 12,783 4,022 1,595 18,400
15,300 Schroder Strategic Bond 15,574 - (347) 15,227
12,750 Scottish American Inv. Co. 32,672 - (845) 31,827

195 Siemens AG 16,124 - (1,887) 14,237
1,300 SSE 17,810 - 3,276 21,086

18,000 Tesco  - 5.5% Notes 2019 20,087 - (590) 19,497
750/920 Unilever 18,615 4,187 1,376 24,178

9,000/7,500 Vodafone Group 21,330 (150) (4,481) 16,699
635,350 30,718 3,957 670,025

The historical cost of investments at 31 December 2014 was £537,567 (2013 £511,832)

11 DEBTORS 2014 2013
£ £

Prepayments 1,481 607
Other Debtors 852 601

2,333 1,208

12 EMPLOYEES AND TRUSTEES AND THEIR REMUNERATION
12.1 Employees

The employees can be categorised as one on direct charitable activities and one on supporting charitable activities.
No employee earned at a rate of £60,000 pro-rata or more.

12.2 Trustees
No remuneration was paid to Trustees during the year.
Only minor reimbursements of direct outlays were made to Trustees on production of receipts.

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014 (continued)

Staff costs of the above amounted to £32,648 (2013 £31,462) (including employers' national insurance of £577 (2013 £1,962).
The average weekly number of employees during the year on a head count was two (2013 two).
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13 RESTRICTED FUNDS
At 1 January Incoming Resources At 31 December

2014 Resources Expended Revaluation 2014
£ £ £ £ £

Museum Purchase Fund 1,573 288 (610) - 1,251
Gordon Christie Legacy Fund 19,682 1,175 (5,763) - 15,094
Gordon Christie Legacy Fund Revaluation Reserve 1,839 - - (226) 1,613
Boase Wood Fund 12,152 560 (1,107) - 11,605
Boase Wood Fund Revaluation Reserve 735 - - (119) 616
Dr J Falconer Fund 1,721 - (349) - 1,372
Mrs D'Arcy Thompson Bequest Fund 4,151 140 (391) - 3,900
Mrs D'Arcy Thompson Bequest Fund Revaluation Reserve 184 - - (30) 154
Miss G Falconer Fund 230 3,062 (2,372) - 920
Pride of Place Fund 596 - - - 596
Murray Revenue Fund - 215 - - 215
Murray Fund Revaluation Reserve - - - (145) (145)
Miss L Walker Fund - 625 (100) - 525

42,863 6,065 (10,692) (520) 37,716
Funds where expenditure has been capitalised
Miss G Falconer Falconry Fund - 10,306 (175) - 10,131
Research Room Fund - 18,000 (656) - 17,344

42,863 34,371 (11,523) (520) 65,191

Restricted Funds

14 ENDOWMENT FUND

15 CONTROL
Control of the Trust lies in the hands of the members who elect the Trustees.

16 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Boase Wood Fund relates to monies raised and donated to meet the need to renew fencing, remove a number of potentially dangerous trees and to 

The Museum Purchase Fund is restricted by a requirement of the Museum and Galleries Commission's Registration Scheme whereby any monies 
The Gordon Christie Legacy Fund is to be used in the provision and erection of plaques on buildings in St Andrews associated with well known 

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014 (continued)

The Miss G Falconer Falconry Fund is to assist with funding of the Falconry building and costs of £8,742 have been capitalised and are being written
off as depreciation at 2% straight line annually.
The Research Room Fund represents grants and donations received to assist with the building of the new research room. Costs of £25,723 have been
capitalised and are being written off as depreciation at 2% straight line and 5% reducing balance basis annually.

The Miss L Walker Fund is to assist with the provision of furniture for the research facility.

There were no contingent liabilities at the year end.

The Dr J Falconer Fund is to assist with the cost of the new information and storage system to be installed at the museum.
The Mrs D'Arcy Thompson Bequest Fund is funds provided for the D'Arcy Thompson Garden at the museum.
The Miss G Falconer Fund is to assist with revenue expenditure at the Trust garden and museum.
The Pride of Place Fund is to assist with the Pride of Place awards run by the Trust.

This permanent endowment fund was established by an original donation to be maintained as capital with the income being applied to encourage and 

The Murray Revenue Fund income and revaluation arises from the permanent endowment whose purpose is described in note 14 below.

13
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COMMITTEES FOR YEAR 2014/2015 

 

ENVIRONMENT 

Mrs M E Denyer, Convener 

Mr S A Kidd, Dr I M Matthews, Mr W Sangster and Mr D K Seeley 

Co-opted members: Mr I M Christie (Keeper of the Wood and Doocots), 

and Miss G L C Falconer 

Adviser: Mr J W G Macgregor 

 

FINANCE 

Dr P J Murray, Convener 

Honorary Teasurer, Mr I S Lumsdaine 

 

FUNDRAISING 

Mr A W Johnson, Convener 

 Dr D A Barrie, Mr J D Beaton, Miss I R T Bennett, and Mrs M E Denyer  

Co-opted members:  Mrs P Anthony, Mrs L Barrie, and 

Mrs E J Baxter 

 

MEMBERSHIP, PUBLICATIONS, PUBLICITY & PROGRAMME 

Dr D A Barrie (Membership, Publications & Publicity) Joint Convener 

Mr S A Kidd (Programme), Joint Convener 

 Mr J D Beaton, Miss I R T Bennett, Mrs M E Denyer, and Miss A J M Morris 

Co-opted members: Mr H I Greenwell and Mr C A McAllister 

 

MUSEUM 

Miss A J M Morris, Convener 

Mr R deC Chapman, Vice-Convener 

Mr A W Johnson 

Co-opted members: Mrs L Barrie, Mrs K Ekanger, Miss G L C Falconer, 

Miss P M Harvey and Mr A H Pardoe 

Curatorial Adviser:  Mrs E J Wells 

Curator: Miss S Bannerman 

 

PLANNING (APPLICATIONS) 

Mr J Peacock, Convener 

Dr W K D Borthwick, Mr W Sangster and Mr D K Seeley 

Co-opted members: Mr S Bremner 

Advisers: Dr J M Frew, Mr D N Middleton and Dr R R Steedman 

 

POLICY & RESOURCE 

Dr P J Murray, Convener 

 Dr D A Barrie, Mrs M E Denyer, Mr A W Johnson, Mr S A Kidd, 

 Miss A J M Morris,  Mr J Peacock and Mr D G Wynd 

 

PROPERTY 

Mr A W Johnson, Convener 
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT 

 

 

Over the years, the Trust’s operations have become increasingly varied and complex but there are 

three guiding lights that help us maintain our direction. 

 

Our guiding lights 

 

The first, of course, is our founding mission:  “To preserve, for the benefit of the public, the 

amenities and historic character of the City and Royal Burgh of St Andrews and of its  

neighbourhood”, which is as relevant today as it was when the Trust was founded in  1937.   

Everything we do has to be judged against this criterion. 

 

The second, perhaps under-rated, is our committee structure.  This ensures that almost every  

activity undertaken by the Trust falls within the  remit  of  one  of  our  eight  committees, and 

that a committee convener, a Trustee, is accountable  for  it.   Three  of  the  committees  are  

outward-facing: 

 

• Planning 

• Museum 

• Environment. 

 

The other five, just as important, are largely in support of the Trust’s activities  across  the  

board, ie: 

 

• Finance 

• Property 

• Membership, Publications & Publicity 

• Programme 

• Fund-raising. 

 

The third guiding light, established as a result of our strategic review in 2013, is our strategic 

plan.  This contains  initiatives  that  we  wish  to  pursue  in  order  to  improve  the  Trust’s  

performance or  adjust  its  direction  of  travel.  The strategic actions are determined, and their 

progress is monitored, by the Policy and Review Committee, which meets almost monthly.  At 

present there are seven of these: 

 

• Strengthen the Planning function 

• Recruit more Members 

• Generate additional income  

• Redevelop the Museum’s outbuildings and garden  

• Acquire the garden at 1 Greyfriars Garden and convert it to public use 

• Upgrade the interior of the Museum 

• Refurbish the Trust Office. 
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Planning 
 

Our opposition to the Council’s plans to locate the new Madras school at Pipeland Farm has 
dominated our planning efforts.  When you read this, you will know that the judicial review, 
brought by STEPAL, to challenge Fife Council’s handling of the site selection has gone against 
us.  This is extremely  disappointing.   We  thought  that  the  case  presented in court was very 
convincing and we therefore find the judgement perplexing.  It remains to be seen if any other 

steps can sensibly be taken to stop the building at Pipeland. 
 
Madras is probably the most important planning threat that the Trust has had to address in twenty 
years.  It has also exposed the Trust to strident criticism from a small   but   vocal  group  of  

Pipeland supporters.  In 2014, we have seen the planning process move through: the  Planning-in
-Principle Application; a review by Scottish Ministers; and the detailed planning application, 
which was eventually approved by the full council.  We set up a tight-knit working group to  
prepare and present the Trust’s case  at  every  stage,  drawing  on  paid  and  unpaid  expert  
professional help from various disciplines.  We have had hundreds of pages of documents to 

scrutinise  and  we  have  produced  several  detailed submissions, often against unreasonable 
deadlines.  We have been helped and heartened by the overwhelming support of our Members, 
without a single contrary voice being raised.  As a result, the Council has had to redouble its  
efforts to try and counter our arguments.  The judicial review launched by three respected retired 
Madras teachers appeared to be the final obstacle that stood in the way of the school being built 

there.  We decided to contribute £2,000 towards the legal  costs  involved.   Many  Members  
have  made  personal donations. 
 
In parallel, other major planning applications have commanded our attention.   The  Abbey Park 

flats, bordering Greenside Place, were eventually approved (albeit in more acceptable form) after 
five submissions.  Well resourced developers do not give up.  The private  developments  of  
student accommodation at the old hospital site and on the East Sands were also approved.  We 
have had better fortune with the Rusack’s Hotel extension, the West Sands Visitor Centre and the  
incursion into a garden at Queen’s Gardens.  All three have been rejected – but we anxiously 

await the applicants’ next moves.   We  have  also  had  success  with  some  of  the  smaller  
developments we have  opposed. 
 
The Planning Committee has a relentless and  time-consuming  task,  with  a  straitjacket  of  
fortnightly meetings to cope with  planning  application  deadlines.   This  puts  an  enormous 

burden on John Peacock, the convener, and his small committee, and they deserve our thanks for 
maintaining this crucial Trust function so effectively.  Several of  the  committee  were  also  
involved in Madras.  Once again this year, mention must be made of the invaluable help given by 
retired Trustee, David Middleton, especially over Madras.  Campaign medals also go to our  

Honorary President, Robert Steedman, for his architectural advice on Madras and Rusack’s and 
to emeritus Professor Alan Werritty, who produced two expert analyses of the drainage issues at 
Pipeland. 
 
During the year, a small working group has examined how the planning function could be 

strengthened, in order to lighten the load on the convener and his committee.  As a  result,  an  
additional  committee  member  has  been  recruited  and   a   promising collaboration established  
with  town  planning  staff  and  students  from  Dundee  University.  Further initiatives are being 
explored. 
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Museum 

 

With Samantha Bannerman as our talented and energetic Curator, the Museum has  continued to 

flourish.  The exhibitions she has organised have brought in a  record  number of visitors, as have 

the associated events complementing the exhibitions.  At the start of the year, we had the now  

annual  exhibition  mounted  by  the  Volunteers’  Research Group, showing the fruits of their 

individual research projects.  Over the Easter period, the “Three Ages of the  Byre  Theatre”  was  

on  display,  by  chance  coinciding with the University’s reopening of  the  Byre.   With  it,  was  

staged  an  uproarious play “It’ll be Alright on the Night”, magically re-creating in the confines 

of the Museum the cramped conditions of the original Byre.  The  summer  exhibition  featuring 

St Andrews and the Great War aroused huge interest,  aided  by  various  talks  and  a  vivid  

demonstration of wartime equipment.  The Arts  and  Crafts  Exhibition,  towards the end of the 

year, also proved to be very popular. 

 

Behind  the  scenes,  considerable  work  went  into  obtaining  the  renewal  of  the  all-important 

accreditation from Museums & Galleries Scotland (MGS).  With this under her belt, Samantha 

successfully applied to MGS for a trainee curator to be assigned to the Museum for 2015 (paid 

for by MGS).  This can be taken as an indication of MGS’s regard for the Museum.  Francesca 

Purvis took up the role in  January  2015.   An  ongoing project, carried out with the help  of  

Volunteers is  the  meticulous  checking,  repacking and cataloguing of all items in the collection 

– no  mean  task.   The  oral  archive is also receiving attention, a little neglected in recent years.  

Veronica Whymant, who is studying the subject  at  Dundee  University,  is  undertaking  the  

digitisation of existing records and the creation of new ones. 

 

Samantha Bannerman, Curator, must take a good portion of the credit for the Museum’s success.  

She works closely with the Museum Committee, led by Anne  Morris  as  Convener, with the 

Museum Mentor, Emma Jane Wells of MUSA, and with a small army of Volunteers, led by Kate 

Ekanger.  Our thanks are due to them all. 

 

The outhouses and garden at the back of the Museum have been transformed during the year.  

Following the purchase of additional land in 2012, work on converting the old washhouse into a 

purpose-designed store for the prized  pictorial  collection,  now  numbering over 12,000 items, is 

almost complete.  There is space too for those wishing to study items in the collection.  An 

imaginatively designed garden store, constructed of oak, and with a ‘living roof’, has been built 

in a corner of the garden.  This will free up valuable space in the main outhouse for an extra  

display area.  In addition, the garden is being re-ordered and re-planted, adding to the garden’s 

attractiveness to visitors.  This is the triumphant outcome of a demanding project managed 

throughout by Andrew Johnson.  Plans are now afoot to refurbish parts of the Museum interior. 

 

We were fortunate to have received a large  and  timely  legacy  from  late  Member,  Tim  Baker

-Jones, enabling us to acquire the extra land at the Museum in 2012.  The costs of redevelopment 

have been substantially eased by the repeated and fulsome generosity of former Trustee, Gillian 

Falconer, and by the significant grants given us by several local charities.  We, are most grateful 

to them and to the Museum Development project team, led by the indefatigable Andrew Johnson. 

 

 



19 

Environment 

 

Activities to enhance the St Andrews environment have continued.  The project, funded by the 

Gordon Christie bequest, to erect plaques commemorating  those  with  notable  St Andrews  

associations is still making progress, under the direction of former Trustee, Colin McAllister.  

This year saw the installation of a plaque to honour the 17th century polymath academic, James 

Gregory.  A brass inset in the pavement below the plaque shows a meridian line, an extension of 

one created by Gregory himself.  The  event  attracted much publicity, some suggesting that St 

Andrews was always 12 minutes  early!   Three  other  plaques  planned  for  the  year  were  

unavoidably delayed and are now expected in 2015.   

 

In a notable development, the Trust has concluded an arrangement with a local firm  of  tree  

surgeons for the regular maintenance of Boase Wood, thus removing much of the burden  of  

upkeep previously shouldered by volunteers.  This is at no cost to the Trust.  We are grateful to 

Keeper of the Wood,  Ian  Christie,  his  wife,  Adah,  and  other  volunteers for their continuing 

stewardship of the Wood. 

 

We persist with our efforts to convert the disgracefully neglected garden at 1 Greyfriars Garden 

into a public garden.  We have obtaining planning  approval  and  we  have  concluded a binding 

agreement with an exceedingly generous Trust member to fund our purchase of the garden.  So 

far the garden owner has declined our offers.  Peter Murray is now in charge of this project. 

 

The Trust sponsored 52 South Street, a winner in its 2013 “Pride of Place” Awards, for a Scottish 

Civic Trust “My Place” award.  This house has been spectacularly restored and refurbished.  It 

did not receive an award but judges spoke highly of it.  Our taking part helps give recognition to 

the Trust on a national stage.  Our entry was masterminded by Simon Kidd and Roy Chapman. 

 
In addition to our gratitude to those mentioned above, we must give warm thanks to Marysia 

Denyer and her committee for coordinating our Environment work. 

 

 

Events 

 

We have had another full year of events.  They play an important part in the life of the Trust – 

not only for the financial contribution they make but also for bringing members together socially.   

 

Some events are designed to raise funds for the Trust.  The biggest of these is Hidden Gardens.  

Every year, we try to refresh the format and add more attractions.  This year we  included  a  

number of gardens not seen before, along Hepburn Gardens.  To enable visitors to reach these far

-flung parts, we ran a shuttle bus service.  Hidden Gardens drew many lavish compliments but 

visitor numbers appear to be declining and we must find out why.  Nevertheless, thanks to good 

weather and superlative efforts by all those involved, the 2014 Hidden Gardens made a hand-

some, and vital, addition to Trust funds.  Other major fund-raisers were the Autumn Fair and the 

Annual Quiz.  Fund-raising events are the responsibility of Andrew Johnson and his committee. 

 

Other events are social or educational and are primarily for the benefit of Members.  This year, 
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they have been managed by Derek Barrie and Simon Kidd.  In the main, they have been very 

well attended.  They included an evening tour (with supper) of 52 South Street, the home of Ken 

and Marjorie Dalton, who generously made it available for the occasion.  Another was the third 

annual Trust lecture, first organised to mark our 75th anniversary, now a firm fixture in the St 

Andrews calendar.  Author Rosemary Hannah described the impact of the Third Marquess of 

Bute on the well-being of the University in the late 1800s.  The lecture  was  followed  by  a  

convivial supper.  Other social events were all established favourites, the summer and winter 

receptions and the golf  and  putting competitions.  All were greatly enjoyed. 

 

Whatever their purpose, all events require a huge amount of work from many people and a great 

deal of organisation.  As in previous years, the willing collaboration of so many was a joy to 

experience.  We offer our greateful thanks to all of  them  and  in  particular to those who have 

shouldered the responsibility for them, Andrew, Derek and Simon. 

 

 

Membership, Publications and Publicity 

 

Derek Barrie has been the owner of this multi-faceted portfolio, again this year, and we are very 

appreciative of all that he and his committee do to promote the Trust. 

 

Membership has remained steady at just over 600.   This  year,  as  in  other  years,  considerable 

efforts are put in to cajoling those who are late with their subscriptions to pay up.  In the end, all 

but a tiny handful do so.  We are keen to increase membership, for example by focusing on our 

corporate members, by  introducing  a  category  of  associate membership for visitors with an 

affinity for St Andrews.  These ideas will probably be developed further in the coming year. 

 

The sales of Christmas cards continue to provide useful income.  Two new designs were added to 

the range this year.  The Trust calendar was introduced last year.  We decided to continue it, and 

with an improved design, it proved popular.  We are grateful to local businesses who kindly 

sponsored each month, but even so, the venture just broke even.  We will need to take a fresh 

look at the calendar’s viability. 

 

We are fortunate indeed to have Derek in charge of our publicity.  Thanks to him, barely a week 

goes by without the Trust featuring prominently in the local press, often with photographs.  This 

is in welcome contrast to the criticism we have endured from Pipeland proponents, and shows the 

Trust in a positive light. 

 

 

Property, Finance and Administration 

 

Previously, responsibility for property was combined with finance.  Because of the increasing 

demands of finance, we  decided  to  separate  property  and  it  became  Andrew  Johnson’s  

responsibility, sitting well with his other work in developing the Museum’s facilities.  The 

Trust’s properties are:  the Office in Queen’s Gardens, the Museum, the Burgher Kirk (which is 

let), Boase Wood and two doocots.  The heating at the Museum was diabolical and a health risk 

to the Curator, in particular.  Andrew  has  made  it  possible to be there in the winter without 
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scarves and overcoats.  At the insistence of our insurers, a new alarm system – an unforeseen 

expense - has been installed at the Office and at the Museum.  Andrew  negotiated  with  the  

insurers  and  oversaw  the implementation of the new system. 

 

During the year, Ian Lumsdaine stepped down as a Trustee and Finance Convener but, to our 

great relief, agreed to continue to manage our finances as Treasurer.  This takes up a huge 

amount of time all through the year but especially at the year end, preparing input for the annual 

accounts.  Ian has been ably  assisted  by  Janette  Gillespie  and,  since  April,  by  the  new  

Administrator, Lilias Lawrie, who have both performed the role of day-to-day book-keeping.  Ian 

also continually monitors our investment portfolio to ensure that we obtain good returns.  Our 

sincere thanks are due not only to them but also to our Independent Examiner, Ian Palfrey of 

Henderson Black & Co, who produces our  annual  accounts,  has  an  unrivalled  knowledge  of  

OSCR’s  ever-increasing  accounting requirements and is always ready to offer sound advice. 

 

We must also pay tribute to the service provided by our legal adviser, Douglas Kinnear, of 

Murray Donald, now part of Thorntons Law LLP.  It is a sign of the times, perhaps, that we seek 

legal advice more often than we used to.  Douglas ensures that he or his colleagues respond to 

our calls promptly and effectively. 

 

The role of Administrator is central to the smooth functioning of the Trust.  The varied aspects of 

the job are too many to enumerate here and, at times, require a conjurer’s skills in multi-tasking.  

The Administrator will have had a hand in almost every activity described in this report – and 

much more besides.  We bade a sad farewell to Janette Gillespie, who retired in April.  Following 

a short handover  period,  Lilias  Lawrie  became her successor.  It has been a baptism of fire and 

Lilias has sensibly made the book-keeping her priority.  She has found her feet and is steadily 

getting to know the baffling plethora of things we just assume she will have at her finger tips, as 

well as the idiosyncrasies of us Trustees!  Our warm thanks go both to Janette and Lilias. 

 

 

Farewell 

 

By the time of the AGM in May, I will have been a Trustee for seven years and must stand down.  

After four years, my time as Chairman, initially taken on as a two-year stint, will come to end.  I 

have been enormously fortunate.  I have been wonderfully supported by my fellow Trustees, by 

our staff and by others.  The activities described above and in the previous three years have been 

their achievements.  I have simply been lucky enough to have them happen on my watch.  I have 

also been buoyed by  the  goodwill you, our Members, have shown me.  It has  been  a  rare  

privilege and a great pleasure to be your Chairman.  I shall remain an active Member but, in the 

meantime, I offer my successor, the new team of Trustees and you all my heartfelt thanks and 

very best wishes. 
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THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED 

 

The following booklets are available to purchase from the museum all £2: 

Men of St Andrews 

Women of St Andrews 

St Andrews by the Northern Sea – Harbour and Fishing Community 

A Sense of Place – Discovering St Andrews (2003) 

Best Days of Your Life – Schools in St Andrews 

The People’s War – St Andrews and the Home Front 1939-1945 

A Century of Childhood (2004) 

Grand Designs – a stroll down The Scores 

Sum and Substance - The Men of St Andrews 

When the Boat Comes In (2008) 

Speak Up - Communication in St Andrews (2007) 

Where the Heart Is - Recipe Book 

Colours, Curtains and Chords - Arts In St Andrews (2009) 

Who Cares? Health care and Medicine in St Andrews (2009) 

The World At Our Door: St Andrews Migration and Travel Stories (2009) 

St Andrews' Bairns: A Short History of Childhood in St Andrews (2011) 

Here Comes The Bride: Courtship, Weddings and Married Life in St Andrews (2011) 

Local Heroes (2010) 

Step Into the Roaring Twenties: Discover St Andrews in the 1920s (2010) 

St Andrews & the Great War (2014) 

The St Andrews School (2013) 

 

A Selection of the Interesting Items Donated to the Museum in 2014: 

• Archie Provan collection: including military uniform, medals and personal items. 

• A chalk drawing of Queens’ College, Cambridge by Annabel Kidston. 

• Large collection of WW1 postcards. 

• Oil painting: Still life with red and blue poppies by Winifred McKenzie. Purchased at 

auction with the assistance of the National Fund for Acquisitions. 

• RNLI medal and certificate awarded to Robert Brown in 1915 for the rescue of two 

pilots from a Royal Navy seaplane off the coast of Kingsbarns. 

• Collection of documents and objects relating to the Scottish Referendum. 

• Ceramic dessert bowl from The Grand Hotel, St Andrews. 

• A replica Byre Theatre curtain funded by the Museum volunteers and created by 

DABS (the Doing Art in the Bell Pettigrew Society). 
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ENVIRONMENT COMMITTEE 

Convener Mrs M E Denyer 

 

Looking back on 2014, let's remind ourselves of the work of this Committee during the past year. 

Please join me in my walk down memory lane. 

 

The start of the year focused on the continued maintenance of our beloved Boase Wood. Mark 

Edward's company, Special Branch Tree & Hedge Surgery, had confirmed by letter that work 

was scheduled to begin on the 20th January.  Ian Christie, our consummate “Keeper of the 

Woods”, had prioritised the work he wished to be undertaken. This included clearing the paths of 

decaying foliage and inspecting the woodland for any signs of autumn/winter storm damage. 

 

It had also been decided that we should submit an entry to the Scottish Civic Trust's “My Place 

Award” 2014. The Trustees’ choice was one of the winners of our 2013 “Pride of Place” Awards. 

This was the home of Mr Ken Dalton at 52 South Street that  had  undergone  an  impressive 

restoration. Trustee and Committee member Simon Kidd, kindly entered our submission online 

by the closing date of 31st January. We were extremely grateful to him  for  his  expertise  in 

producing the necessary statements and photographs that were required. 

 

Mark Edward and his team returned to Boase Wood during March to start work on a precarious 

oak tree which was giving Ian Christie cause for concern. This tree was duly crowned and made 

safe, especially for the general public that regularly walk through the Lade Braes.  In the same 

month, Ian and I received a phone call from Martin Langton of Langton Tree Specialists. He 

detailed the proposed tree survey that the Trustees had agreed to fund from the remaining monies 

of the Boase Wood Appeal 2009.  St Andrews in Focus also published  an  article,  including 

photographs, that I had drafted. This highlighted the necessary work that had taken place in the 

woodland. Hopefully it helped to raise the company's profile and their professionalism as local 

tree surgeons. 

 

In early March we received an invitation to attend the Scottish Civic Trust's Awards Reception in 

Glasgow, later on that month. Our Chairman, along with Ken Dalton and architect, Duncan Low, 

attended this function on the 27th March.  Although the restoration of  52  South  Street  had 

impressed the judging panel, unfortunately it was not a winner, as the awards were focused on 

community based projects rather than private residences. 

 

During the same month the Committee's co-opted  advisor,  Jimmy  Macgregor,  asked  us  to 

consider the restoration of the cast iron pillar at 131 South Street, known as  “Mr Milanos”.   We  

also welcomed the return of Dr Iain Matthews to the Committee, after a period of ill health. 

 

In May we received the completed Tree Survey from Martin Langton  which  was extremely 

comprehensive.  Guidance was provided regarding any remedial work which would be required 

in the coming months and years. Two hard copies of this report are held in the Trust office. These 

were placed on display for the membership to view at the 2014 AGM. 

 

In the autumn, Special Branch cut back the privet hedging along the path leading down from the 

boundary wall. The foliage bordering the fencing on the main road was also cut back. It is at this 



juncture that I would like to record on behalf of the Preservation Trust, our sincere thanks to Ian 
Christie for his diligence in keeping a watchful eye over the wood. The same sentiments  are ex-

tended to Mark Edward and his workforce at Special Branch for the company's “pro bono” assis-

tance with its continuing maintenance. 
 

In conclusion, one initiative that unfortunately did not come to fruition during 2014 was  the resto-

ration of the cast iron pillar at Mr Milanos. Our restoration work requires the expertise and avail-
ability of Jake Brown, gold leaf restorer. Hopefully we can enlist his creative skills once again 

during 2015. 

 
 

 

TREASURER’S REPORT 

Honorary Treasure Ian Lumsdaine 

 

The income received from our investment portfolio generates nearly half of our total unrestricted 
income and we are in discussions regularly with our stockbrokers to try and ensure that this source 

of income is maintained, and if possible increased. During these discussions, we take care to con-

sider the performance and security of each of our holdings. During the year, we transferred £30,000 
from cash reserves into our portfolio but we try to make as few changes as possible. During 2014 

we received an additional £5,255 in the form of special dividends from three of our holdings. The 

yield on the portfolio against the year-end valuation is 4.5%. 
 

The major additional income this year is from funding sourced and received to assist with the fi-

nancing of the development of the buildings in the Museum garden. In total £28,306, which in-
cludes some Gift Aid, has been received. Without this help we would have had to either restrict the 

developments, or use existing funds, with the consequential loss of investment income.  The pur-

chase of the land in 2012 and the subsequent development in 2014 would not have taken place if 
we had not received a substantial legacy from a former member. We encourage  all  members to 

make a provision in their will to help secure the Trust’s long term future. 

 
The new building developments have prompted the Trust to look at the maintenance of all the 

properties and work has been carried out to  improve  them  and  ensure  that  they  are  in  a  satis-

factory condition. Also our insurers requested that we install an alarm system in both the office and 
the Museum at a total cost of £6,851 which has been capitalised. Once again this year we have had 

to call on outside professional help with our submissions in respect of the most complex planning 

applications. We believe that this trend will continue as St Andrews is subject to many applications 
which affect the historic character of the town. 

 

There has been an increase in activity on using the restricted funds balance to enhance the trust and 
the town. Some funds have been dormant for a few years so it good to see that these funds are be-

ing used as desired by the donors. I have found it difficult to show a meaningful reporting of the 

two funds against which we have capitalised the expenditure, namely the research room and the 
Falconry. Under charity law we must show all income and capital gross but we also need to charge 

depreciation on the asset cost. Both properties have a long life ahead and I have used a 2% straight 

line method of depreciation spreading the cost over the useful life of the asset. This means that 
these two funds will remain on the Trust books for many years. 
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We have received a further £7,750 in favour of the Endowment Fund bringing it to £10,000 and 

this has been invested  with  our  stockbrokers  in  a  holding  presently  earning  4.3%.  The  

accumulated interest will be used in due course. 

 

My sincere thanks go to our new Administrator, Lilias Lawrie, who has come in at a busy time of 

financial activity and to her predecessor for a successful hand over to Lilias. I also thank Ian  

Palfrey of Henderson Black & Co for his help and advice in the presentation  of  the  annual  

accounts. 

 

 

 

FUNDRAISING COMMITTEE 
Convener Mr A W Johnson 
 

ANNUAL QUIZ EVENING 
Due to circumstances beyond our control this event was cancelled and rescheduled to September.  
This proved to be the right decision with eleven teams taking part, many of them regulars.  Local 
Rotary clubs took first and second place dispelling the rumour that the quiz is always won by the 
same team. 
 
As in previous years, the success of this ever popular event was  down  to  the  efforts  of  an 
enthusiastic team who each year devise the most interesting and challenging questions, obtain 
excellent raffle prizes and provide those who attend with a most enjoyable and well organised 
evening.  We are grateful to the management and staff of The New Golf Club for hosting the 
event. 
 
HIDDEN GARDENS 
The gardens chosen this year took the participants out of Town and along Hepburn Gardens.  
Many visitors took the opportunity to avail themselves of the shuttle bus loaned by the COSMOS 
Centre to whom our grateful thanks.  Donations for a trip in the bus amounted to over £50. 
 
In addition to the regular three, the Museum Garden, 46 South Street and St John’s Garden, our 
visitors enjoyed quite a variety of new gardens including the St Andrews Organic Allotment at 
Kinburn Park.  Many gardeners supported the event by supplying refreshments’, these were 
greatly appreciated and consumed with relish.  Visitors to June Baxter’s garden enjoyed the most 
delicious strawberries so generously donated by Allan Hill Farm. 
 
As in previous years, the Museum Curator and the Volunteers under the charge of Kate Ekanger, 
did a splendid job.  The excellent stalls and refreshments were much appreciated by the visitors 
whose purchases helped to swell the coffers.  The array of stalls at St John’s Garden was  both 
varied and most interesting.  The catering team led so ably by John Beaton, did us proud with the 
most splendid selection of delicious home baking and mouth watering freshly filled rolls, the 
latter selling out very quickly.  
 
As in previous years, the musical entertainment was in the hands of The Swilcan Singers led so 
ably by their conductor Janice Stewart, and the Fife Horn Union.  Both have indicated a wish to 
return in 2015.   
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It is evident that we have a growing number of visitors from further a field.  It is our intention to 
focus our advertising this year with this in mind in the hope of attracting a greater number. 

 

The weather was somewhat kinder than 2013; ticket sales were 622 compared to 690 in 2013 and 
567 in 2012; the gross amount raised was £6250 compared to £7087 in 2013 and £5669 in 2012.  

The Committee feels that several factors accounted for the dip, principally the number of similar 

events being held that same weekend also the fair at Craigton Park.  The overall takings still  
resulted in a most meaningful and welcome contribution to the Trust’s finances. 

 

My most grateful thanks go to everyone who took part in what ever way and to Murray Donald 
LLP (now Thorntons Law LLP) our event sponsors. 

 

 
 

MEMBERSHIP, PROGRAMME, PUBLICITY 

AND PUBLICATIONS COMMITTEE 

Joint Convener Dr. D. A. Barrie (Membership, Publications and Publicity) 

 

This Committee continued to have joint conveners throughout 2014. I dealt with membership, 
publicity and publications. Simon Kidd remained responsible for the programme of events put on 

for members. He will report separately. My thanks go to all members of the MPPP Committee 

for their efforts throughout 2014.  In addition to Messrs Kidd and Barrie, Trustees Marysia 
Denyer, John Beaton, Irene Bennett and Anne Morris served with Howard Greenwell, co-opted 

for his IT knowledge. Colin McAllister was also called upon for advice and involvement on  

specific issues.  
 

The Trust’s membership has remained fairly static though the subscription income in 2014 was 

down by a considerable amount. This was due to an unusually large number of new members 
taking out joint life membership in 2013. Most new members in 2014 joined as annual members. 

We are charged by the Policy  and  Resource  Committee  to  come  forward  with  ideas  for 

increasing membership and implementing these ideas and any others from the Trustees.   The 
commitment to do this stayed largely on the backburner last year. However, plans were laid to 

give recruitment a higher priority in 2015, especially of corporate members.  We continue to 

promote the Trust to students and have been successful in getting  student  attendance  at  and 
involvement in the Annual Lecture. Again there was a strong university connection with the 3rd 

Marquis of Bute being the topic. Incidentally there will be further coverage of the Marquis as one 

of the research topics being worked on by May Watt for the research exhibition in February 2015 
is “the marquis and the priory house”.  

 

One of the Committee’s regular tasks is to organise the design, printing and sale of Christmas 
cards, especially through participation in the annual October charity Christmas card fair in the 

Town Hall, currently organised by Rotary. This year we had two new cards, both designed by 

Walter Watson, on sale. One was particularly festive with a snowman on the Old Course and 
another was of Blackfriars Chapel with a minute famous Hamish the cat in the foreground. The 

snowman card was so popular it needed a reprint. We also sold at bargain rates a significant  

number of cards from previous years. An engraving by Polish artist Josef Sekalski featuring the 
harbour sold well. 

 



In the 2013 Year Book we reported on a new related venture. This was the production for 2014 

of a Preservation Trust calendar, which featured black and white photos of St Andrews from the 

Trust collection. After some discussion, the Committee agreed to produce a further calendar for 

2015. Some significant changes were introduced. The calendar was to be in colour with twelve 

photographic scenes of St Andrews, all taken by Professor Sam Taylor, a very well known local 

amateur photographer and former Vice-Chairman of the Trust. This represented “One man’s 

view of St Andrews”. Sponsorship was also obtained from 12 local businesses, one per month. 

As in 2014 this venture, despite the sponsorship, again only just broke even. The Committee will 

have to decide whether or not to produce a 2016 calendar. The calendar itself does help to boost 

awareness of the Trust but it represents a lot of work for little financial return. If we do go ahead 

we must look at how we promote its sales against fairly fierce competition. Cards and calendars 

were also sold through a number of retail outlets in the town and directly from both the office at 

Queen’s Gardens and the Museum. Again a number of cards and some calendars were sold via 

the internet with cards displayed on our website.  

 

I continued to edit the Trust’s quarterly newsletter, which was laid out by former Trustee Howard 

Greenwell, now a co-opted volunteer to the MPPP Committee and printed by West Port Print and 

Design, where we have an excellent working relationship with Fiona McEwan. Trustees are to be 

thanked for prompt provision of copy and in assisting with the “stuffing”  exercise  for  each 

edition. We have now got this operation down to a fine art. It was gratifying that again all four 

2014 editions were printed and distributed on schedule.  A continuing  feature  has  been  the 

inclusion with the newsletter of various inserts, both to publicise and sell tickets for Trust events, 

and to explain to members the Trust’s stance on various issues. A prime example of the latter has 

been the ongoing dispute over the site for the new Madras College. The Chairman, through  a 

series of newsletter inserts kept members fully informed of the strong opposition of the Trust’s 

Board of Trustees to Fife Council’s decision to seek planning permission  to  build  the  new 

Madras College at Pipeland Farm, totally contrary to the Council’s own adopted local plan. The 

Trustees thank members for their strong support on this issue. We have also kept newsletter costs 

down for a third year thanks to Simon Kidd organising distribution to St Andrews members and 

indeed delivering  the vast majority himself. We use West Port Print and Design for virtually all 

our printing requirements, for their co-operation and efficiency. 

 

Publicity for the Trust and the Museum is largely obtained through press releases to the  “St  

Andrews Citizen” and the “The Courier”. Sometimes we achieve publicity more widely and 

“nationally” as was the case with the installation of a plaque commemorating James Gregory and 

the  positioning  of  the meridian outside the entrance gates to St Mary’s College. This was the 

second year running of publicity for the erection of a plaque made possible by the Gordon 

Christie bequest. 2013 saw the erection of plaques in English and Polish to Polish inventor of a 

mine detector, Josef Kosacki. More are planned for 2015: Jock Hutchison; Thomas Rodger,  

Boswell and Johnson. Often with accompanying photographs, we have achieved good coverage 

of Trust events, such as the Annual Lecture,  a  tribute  to  Ronald  Cant  presented  to  the  

Strathmartine Trust, along with all  Museum exhibitions. Although most press coverage is 

achieved through press releases I issue, the curator Sam Bannerman is increasingly approached 

by reporters on the “Citizen” mainly about coming  events  which  has  increased  our  press  

coverage. 
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Thanks to the efforts of a number of volunteers, events have been advertised by  posters  and 

flyers delivered to shops, businesses, hotels, guest houses, restaurants and anywhere else you can 

think of, in the East Neuk burghs as well as the town itself. This is one of the main means of 

advertising our “jewel in the crown” fund raising event – “Hidden Gardens Day”, held on the last 

Sunday in June. Also important for that event are the roadside placards provided originally by 

John Matthews and now maintained and erected by Andrew Johnson. We are also due thanks to 

Jude Innes, who had a window display to publicise “Hidden Gardens Day” in a J&G Innes win-

dow on South Street. A similar display for “Hidden Gardens Day” has been in the  “Citizen” 

window in Greyfriars Garden for a number of years, as has a display advertising other of the 

Trust’s Museum exhibitions. Unfortunately the “Citizen” premises in Greyfriars Garden have 

been vacated by the newspaper and are up for sale at the time of writing.  

  

The members of the MPPP Committee see it as part of their responsibility to promote the Trust 

positively to the public. Because the  Trust  comments,  often  adversely,  on  major  planning 

applications the image of the Trust among townspeople is often, unfortunately,’ negative. We are 

seen as reactionary, particularly with regard to planning issues. In giving information for stories 

to the press we have tried to improve this image by issuing regular press releases which show the 

Trust in a positive light. 

 

Through the work both of my Committee and the Planning Committee on planning issues we 

have been achieving regular, positive coverage of the Trust’s activities. It is encouraging  that 

increasingly reporters from the “Citizen” / “Fife Herald” have latched on to press releases sent 

by me to them. They then build up stories, often  with  photographs  which  give  us  more  and  

better coverage. There can, however, be a downside  to  reporters  writing  up  their  own  stories. 

Sometimes they are not fully acquainted with the subject of the press release. You can never be 

sure that the version that is printed is wholly accurate or not. However you have to take a chance 

and what appears in print is invariably better than no coverage at all. Many of our press releases 

before events are effectively thinly veiled advertisements for Trust events. A newspaper by its 

very nature is more concerned with reporting on events having been held.  

 

The Trust has achieved considerable press coverage for its involvement in major local issues. A 

great deal of work was done by the Housing Commission, set up under the auspices of the Trust. 

It continued its work throughout 2013 and reported, amid considerable press publicity early in 

2014. The Board of Trustees became heavily involved in the arguments as to where the  new 

Madras College should be sited. Considerable publicity for the Trust’s views was achieved 

throughout 2014 and is ongoing whilst (at the time of writing) the outcome of a judicial review 

into Fife Council’s handling of their site selection and planning application is awaited. The Trust 

has consistently sought, through the press and in other ways to argue the case for a school to be 

built on the western approaches to the town on the North Haugh and will continue to do so until 

no avenues are left to explore. The Trust has contributed to the costs of and publicly backed STE-

PAL (St Andrews Environmental Protection Association Limited) which has sought  the judicial 

review. 

 

The only publications in 2014 were the highly informative guides to the various exhibitions 

staged during the year. These were produced in a professional and  efficient  manner  by  the 

Museum curator, Sam Bannerman. She also writes and edits the “Museum Times”  which  is 
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distributed to Museum volunteers and the Trustees and highlights the work of the Museum. 

Sam’s predecessor, Jennifer Reid, has written a short history of 12 North Street which it is hoped 

to publish in 2015, once a final chapter has been written by Sam covering the new research room 

which will be officially opened in 2015. 

  

To sum up, the Committee carried out its remits as per usual without any great changes compared 

with previous years. Membership was stable and recruitment has to become more of a priority for 

2015. Although we sometimes get frustrated with the way some press releases are used by local 

reporters, we continued to ensure that the Trust maintained a high profile in the town. We also 

kept members well informed through the quarterly newsletter. If any member of the Trust has 

views as to how we could increase membership and/or obtain a positive, favourable response for 

what we do, we would be delighted to hear from them. 

 

 

Joint Convener: Mr S A Kidd (Programme Committee) 

 

On 6 May, our Members were very fortunate to be invited into 52 South Street, courtesy of Ken 

and Marjory Dalton.  The former home and surgery of Dr McKerrow had recently undergone 

major  redevelopment,   during  which  Steve  Liscoe  and  Douglas  Speirs,   Fife  Council’s 

archaeologists, were involved in surveying the property and researching its history.  They spoke 

to the group on their findings and illustrated their work with many slides.  This  showed  how 

land-use of the site had changed since the mediaeval enlargement of St Andrews beyond the 

original monastic and adjoining lay settlement, and revealed how the solid 14th century stone 

structure remains at the core of the building.  Thereafter, we had an opportunity to see around the 

house.  The weather obliged, too which allowed us to explore the sheltered garden or to converse 

under the full canopy of the ancient Common Yew (Taxus baccata).  The lang rigg is shared with 

Red Roofs, approached from Queen’s Terrace, which Granger and  Janie  Brash  opened  for 

Hidden Gardens this year.  The excellent catering for the reception was supplied by The Cottage 

Kitchen. 

 

Despite the glorious weather experienced for most of July, we happened to stage the Summer 

Reception (a week early in advance of Glasgow’s Commonwealth Games) on an evening which 

turned a little damp - the gazebos were put to good use!  It is amazing how many can be erected 

between the trees on the Museum lawn or on the D’Arcy Thompson patio.  However, this did not 

subdue our pleasure for those who braved the unsettled forecast, about 70  guests.  We  were 

delighted to welcome many of the skilled, local artisans whose talents are evident in the ongoing 

projects, managed by Andrew Johnson, in the expanded garden behind North Street.  Thanks go 

to Gordon and Elspeth Methven for the catering supplied by Cherries and to Derek Barrie, Irene 

Bennett, John Beaton, and Marysia Denyer for their roles in overseeing the event.  Also, our 

appreciation to the Curator as host; to Audrey Jones, The Scores Hotel, Morrisons and J & G 

Innes for donating raffle prizes (generating funds of £108); and to All  Saints’,  whose tables and 

chairs supplemented our own for sheltering under the gazebos. 

 

Derek Barrie again organised the Trust’s golf at Strathtyrum and the putting on the Himalayas, 

courtesy of St Andrews Ladies Putting Club, assisted by Howard Greenwell, who donated the 

prizes.  The winners over the Links were Howard and Sheena Storie.  Ian Lumsdaine crafted a 
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second victory at the shorter version of the sport.  A hole-in-one eluded Ian  but  eight  other 

contestants cheered their skills  (or luck?)  at  this  feat.   The  Chairman’s  participation  was 

rewarded with a special prize for endeavour.  Irene Bennett co-ordinated the team of volunteers 

and donors for the delicious home-cooking, and £104 was raised from the raffle supervised by 

Anne Morris. 

 

The third Annual Lecture, “How Lord Bute Saved St Andrews University”, was delivered by Dr 

Rosemary Hannah in the Town Hall on 6 October.  Dr Hannah, a graduate of St Mary’s College, 

informed us about the personal life of John Patrick Crichton-Stuart and his influence as Lord 

Rector of St Andrews, 1892 to 1898.  He pursued a vital role in ensuring the continuance of the 

university in St Andrews against rival inducements from Dundee, in expanding the subjects 

taught, fostered by his own generous benefactions, and in strengthening the Rector’s independent 

role in student representation and governance.  Brisk buying  of  her  biography,  The  Grand 

Designer: Third Marquess of Bute (2012), resulted in all stock sold prior to the talk.  We are 

grateful to The Cottage Kitchen for the buffet.  Student volunteers from the Kate Kennedy Club 

gave outstanding service and we acknowledge help from the Students’ Union (wine glasses) and 

The Fellowship of St Andrews.  The event was planned and introduced by John Beaton. 

 

Our traditional close to the year, the Winter Reception, was enjoyed once more in North Castle 

Street.  The venue was sparkling under Christmas decorations organised  by  Anne  Morris, 

Marysia Denyer and John Beaton.  Andrew Johnson welcomed each arrival with his much-

favoured mulled wine before guests sampled the fine array of dishes prepared for us by Cherries.  

Also, thanks to Irene Bennett for managing the raffle, which raised £137.  The Chairman invited 

the University of St Andrews Saxophone Quartet to entertain us, appreciated as much by the 

students for a welcome break during their diet of examinations as it was by the audience engaged 

by the broad range of traditional, popular and seasonal music which filled the room.  We  are 

fortunate, as ever, to have access to All Saints’ Church Hall. 

 

 

 

MUSEUM COMMITTEE 

Convener Miss A J M Morris  

 

During 2014 the Museum has continued to fulfil one of its primary functions within the Trust 

which is to conserve the heritage of St Andrews, especially its social  history,  and  make  its 

records and artefacts readily available to the public. 

 

The Curator, Samantha Bannerman, who took up her new 2 year  contract  in  January  2014, 

indicated last year she has intended to expand, with the support of the Museum  Committee 

members and the Volunteers, a wider range of activities for visitors.  This she has achieved 

through an extended programme of events and the recruitment of additional Volunteers. At the 

first meeting of the Committee, following the Trust’s AGM held in May, it was established that 

the composition would remain as before as all the members were happy to continue. It was noted 

Committee members had successfully undertaken particular tasks, in support of the Curator, and 

they would continue to do so in their ‘specialist field’.  
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In January, the Curator and the Convener met with Ian Lumsdaine to go over the details of the 

Projected Budget for the Museum for 2014. Following his scrutiny and advice the Budget was 

accepted and copies were circulated as appropriate. The Curator and the Convenor continued to 

receive monthly reports of the Museum trading and budget comparison from the Treasurer and 

his sound advice and the time he gives to the  preparation  of  the  monthly  returns  is  much 

appreciated. 

 

This year’s Exhibition Programme began in January with an excellent and extremely successful 

Annual Research Group Exhibition and  Coffee  Morning  attracting  a  record-breaking  376 

visitors. All of those involved are to be congratulated on their splendid displays and in all the 

hard work and creativity given in their preparation. The supplementary material on the variety of 

topics prepared by the Researchers and detailed in information folders proved to be  of  great 

interest to visitors and is still available for perusal in the Museum Library. 

 

In March, STANZA, who each year lease the Museum as a popular venue for their events, set up 

two exhibitions: The Lightfoot Letters and Spinning Poetry - a playful installation with which 

visitors were invited to spin the balls to reveal new poetry. 

 

In preparation for the Toy Stories Exhibition held between 29th March – 13th April 2014  the 

Curator and the Convener visited Lawhead Primary School in February to hold a ‘workshop’ 

with the Primary 4 pupils whose creative writing, about the selection of toys drawn from the 

Museum Collection, featured in the Exhibition. The Exhibition was a great success and very well 

attended with the pupils bringing parents and grandparents into  the  Museum  to  see  ‘their’ 

illustrated story - indeed many photographs of the exhibits were taken by family members! 

 

The Exhibition Preview/Reception for Three Ages of the Byre Theatre took place on Saturday the 

20th April and was well attended, and enjoyed, by the invited Guests. The Exhibition was quite 

remarkable with a stage set-up and a copy of the Byre curtain as a backcloth for the performances 

of It’ll Be Alright on The Night directed by Alan Tricker. An ‘Induction’ Meeting, prior to the 

Three Ages of the Byre Theatre Exhibition was arranged for Volunteers and Trustees, by  the 

Curator, and was held prior to the event.  In addition, on the day, the Group were very fortunate 

to have as the visiting speaker Mr Jimmy Bone, the Byre’s Archivist,  who  gave  a fascinating 

talk on the History of the Byre. 

 

The artist who designed the original curtain was Mr Ronald Todd and his daughter, Mrs Lorna 

Robinson, officially opened the Exhibition, at the Reception. She  provided  some  touching 

reminiscences of watching her father create the original curtain and recounted some of his tales 

of the early days of the  Theatre.   One important  item  which  was  available  was  the  very 

comprehensive photographic History Booklet about the Byre which has been produced by the 

Curator. 

 

The Museum’s participation in the Festival of Museums 2014 was a one - day event entitled - 

Who Lived Here? The Fisherfolk of St Andrews and was held on Saturday 17th May. Display 

Boards were also set up in the nearby All Saints Church Hall, with related activities, and these 

proved to be of great interest. It was a very successful event attended by 316 visitors, many of 

whom requested that it was repeated. 
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Available to participants on the day was a leaflet, designed by Pat Harvey and the Curator, which 

detailed a self-guided walk and points of interest around the Ladyhead. This leaflet has proved to 

be interest, and use, to visitors to the Museum throughout the year. 

 

The Summer Exhibition St Andrews and the Great War which ‘… told the story of the people, 

schools and organisations that contributed to the War Effort throughout 1914-1919’ opened at 

the end of May and remained open until September. A new initiative was introduced  by  the 

Curator to give visitors more insight into the Exhibition. She arranged Great War Gallery Talks 

for June, July and August at which she talked about the objects on display  and  their  related 

stories. In June, another innovative event arranged by the Curator was an historical re-enactment 

held in the Museum Garden. In July a Public Lecture given by Dr Derek Patrick, University of 

Dundee, on the History of the 7th(Fife) Battalion the Black Watch took place in the Town Hall, 

St Andrews.  Associated with the Summer Exhibition the Curator created a WW1 Loan-kit for 

Schools and the  feedback on this has been very positive. 

 

As always the Museum Garden proved to be a popular venue during Hidden Gardens Day with 

the sale of tickets and the stalls, in particular Jill Cameron’s Craft Stall, raising a significant 

amount to boost the total takings on the day. Another very original event,  introduced by  the 

Curator and held in August, was Ms Battenburg’s Travelling Tea Room at which visitors were 

able to buy tea and cake - made using war-time recipes - and relax in the Museum garden. 

 

A popular Autumn Fair was held in the Museum in September. 

 

Additional events  held  in  the  Museum,  during  2014,  have  included  the ‘Scrapbooks  & 

Remembering Sessions’, prepared by Pat Harvey and the Curator and the Annual Arts and Crafts 

Exhibition, held between the 29th November and the 6th December. This was very successful 

with a wide range of exhibits. Thanks are due  to  all  the  Trust  members  and  friends  who 

submitted items.  Thanks must also go to Gillian Falconer whose Christmas Stall raised £250. 

 

The Programme of Volunteers’ Talks in 2014 included in January a very interesting talk on ‘The 

Work of the Research Group and Family Trees’, presented by Frances Humphries and May Watt.  

This talk provided an excellent insight into the detailed and rigorous research which is carried out 

by the Research Group, culminating in their splendid exhibitions. 

 

In February, Andrew Johnson delivered an excellent, comprehensive and very informative talk 

on ‘Stonemasons’ Marks’. The audience left encouraged and determined to find the stonemasons’ 

marks which Andrew had identified. 

 

In March, a fascinating talk entitled ‘Gauntlet Gloves gifted by Charles1’ was given by Claire 

Robinson, a member of staff from MUSA (and a former Curator at the Trust Museum). The 

members of the audience were impressed to note the results of Claire’s scrupulous research 

which she has carried out to establish the provenance and authenticity of the Gauntlet Gloves. 

 

The Curator arranged a most interesting visit and guided tour for Volunteers, in March, to The 

Black Watch Museum at Balhousie Castle, Perth.  The Group were extremely fortunate to be able 

to travel in style - in a mini-bus with  a  very prestigious driver - no other than the Trust’s Vice-

Chairman, Andrew Johnson! 

 



In October a tour of what used to be Martyrs’ Church but which now houses the University’s 
Special Collections was given by Rachel Hart. 
 
In November Jimmy  Bone  gave  another excellent talk on the history of The Boys’ Brigade. 
 
In December the final and very informative talk of 2014 was that given by Dr Angela Montford 
whose Fife to America -18th Century Scottish Surgeon was well attended and very well received. 
A very enjoyable end-of-season Party for Volunteers was held at the end of September at which 
Joy Steele was presented with a bouquet  and  thanked  for  her  outstanding  support  of  the 
Museum’s activities and events - including her weekly commitment, over many  years,  as  a 
Museum Guide - and not forgetting her delicious meringues! 
 
Volunteers continue to give, unstintingly, of their time and skills to assist the Curator  in  the 
furtherance of her Forward Plan, examples of which  have  included  the  inventory  of  the 
Chemist’s Shop & the project work in the Store. The Curator, Marjorie Dickens, Lesley Barrie 
and Veronica Whymant carried out an extensive ‘spring- clean’ of the Aikman & Terras display. 
Each Monday, throughout the year Marjorie Dickens is assisting, along with Anne Thorne, in the 
re-organisation of the Museum Stores at the Office. 
 
NADFAS Volunteers continue with the task of scanning the Museum’s Collection. A student 
Volunteer, diligently carried out an inventory of the Chemist’s Shop. 
 
In January 2015 Veronica Whymant is to start oral archive recordings following her attendance at 
a Training Course in Dunfermline  and  a  Museum  &  Galleries  Course  student  will  start  
cataloguing and photographing some of the Trust’s costume collection. 
 
On your next visit to the Museum please note the framed FULL ACCREDITATION  Award 
Certificate which was received on the 8th May 2014 and which is now proudly displayed. The 
Curator, Samantha Bannerman, is to be congratulated on this excellent achievement and thanks 
must also go to Emma Jane Wells, the Museum Mentor, for her invaluable advice and support in 
the completion of the extensive documentation which was required  to  be  submitted  to  the 
Accreditation Panel. Full Accreditation is of enormous importance and benefit to the Trust’s 
small Museum with regard to eligibility  to  apply  to  various  funds  in  Museum  Galleries  
Scotland’s investment programme. 
 
As part of the documentation pertaining to Accreditation, the Museum’s Forward Plan : January 
2014 – January 2016, up-dated by the Curator, was a significant element and thus it is important 
for members to  note the Main Strategic Aims of the Museum as stated in the Forward Plan. 
 

• To provide and maintain the Museum as a repository for artefacts and  records  of  St 
Andrews and its people from 1800 to the present day as a resource for Trust members, for 
the local community and for visitors to  St Andrews. 

• To preserve, collect and interpret material evidence and associated information to reflect 
local activity in accordance with the collecting policy, and  to  educate  and  entertain 
visitors and the local community using these collections. 

• To improve awareness of the role of The St Andrews Preservation Trust among members, 
local residents and visitors, commercial and public bodies. 

• To ensure the efficient running of the Museum by annual revisions and execution of the 
Forward Plan. 
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Museum Galleries Scotland : The Heritage Horizons Traineeship Programme. 

 ‘Funded by the Heritage Lottery Fund, Heritage Horizons Traineeship Programme will provide 

the opportunity for 20 non-graduates from a range of backgrounds to attain an SVQ  level  3 

vocational  qualification in Museums Practice alongside workplace learning during a 12 month 

paid placement in a host museum. The trainees will have a combination of a qualification and the 

confidence of work-readiness on completion of the programme.’  

 

The Curator, Samantha Bannerman, was invited to submit a Host Application Form due to the 

accredited status of the Museum and her close links with Museum Galleries Scotland.  She duly 

completed the extensive and rigorous documentation (copy of which may  be  viewed  at  the 

Museum) and the Chairman and the Trustees were delighted to learn that her application to host a 

Collections and Exhibitions Trainee from 2nd February 2015 had been successful.  A short list of 

6 candidates was drawn up by Museum Galleries Scotland and interviews  were  held  in  the 

Museum in December. The successful candidate accepted the offer of a Traineeship and further 

to completion of the ‘paperwork’ will start at the Museum on the 2nd February.  The Trainee’s 

Bursary and Travel expenses will be met by Museum Galleries Scotland and the only cost to the 

Trust is an administration fee of £500 which is being met by Miss Gillian Falconer who cannot 

be thanked enough  for her continuing generosity and beneficence to the Trust Museum. 

 

During your visits to the Museum Garden, in 2014, you will have noticed the  great  changes 

taking place in the garden and the out-buildings.  The detailed Report by Andrew Johnson, Chair 

of  the  Museum  Development  Committee,  on  this  most  important,  unique  and  notable  

development, by the Trust, gives a full account on the progress and funding of this remarkable 

under-taking, which will enhance visitor experience and draw in many, many more visitors.  This 

splendid and outstanding achievement by Andrew Johnson, who has single-handedly taken on 

the voluntary role of ‘Master of Works’, is nearing completion. Andrew’s unstinting attention, 

regular site visits and scrupulous  vigilance  of  the  works  undertaken  have  resulted  in  an 

outstanding development and thanks are due to him and to all of those who have contributed their 

skills in creating such a splendid enterprise.  The cast–iron pillars have been re-conditioned and 

erected and are firmly in place against the wall; the refurbished boilers are ready for planting; the 

Research Room is almost ready for use; block paving has been laid around the new build; Peter 

Kushner has designed and is putting the  final  touches  into  ‘The Falconry’  and  Andrew’s 

Committee are already planning the next phase - the development of the Sensory Garden.  The 

Trust Museum & Garden can now, without doubt, be regarded as the Trust’s ‘jewel in the 

crown’. 

 

In relation to the forthcoming opening of the Research Room the Curator has obtained a copy of 

the formal procedures used at MUSA and has designed the procedures to be followed in  the 

Museum. These detail how the Research Room can be booked by the public and, in addition, the 

Curator has arranged for Arlen Pardoe to display the procedure on the website.  Linked to this the 

Curator has prepared a statement for dealing with Enquiries at the Museum. In connection with 

the move of material to the new Research Room Arlen has installed the necessary data cables. It 

was noted that Arlen had undertaken this mammoth task single-handedly and he is to be thanked 

for being very sensitive to the fabric of the Museum and the look of the building whilst installing 

the cables, which had necessitated much additional preparation and skill on his part. 
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As we note the many successful events organised and delivered in 2014 I know that you join the 
members of the Museum Committee in their ‘Congratulations!’ and ‘Thanks!’ to the Curator and 
her Team of very willing and able Volunteers for all their creativity, hard work and support, 
without which the Trust’s Museum could not function - nor indeed exist. 
 
In addition as we enter 2015 and reflect on how outstanding 2014 was at the Museum with a 
record-breaking number of visitors - over 10,000 – let’s make next year even  better!  Please 
support your Museum in whatever way you can. Would you like to become a Volunteer? Can 
you help in the Garden? Are you willing to be on duty in the Museum? Do you have any artefacts 
which might be added to the Collections? The Curator would love to hear from you. 
 
Also, please encourage all your friends and family to visit the Museum Exhibitions. Thank you. 
 
 

 

MUSEUM DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 
Convener Mr Andrew W Johnson 
 

RESEARCH ROOM 
This has been a very exciting and rewarding year for the Trust’s Museum where we have seen 
vision turned into reality. 
 
The planned research room is now complete and our Curator and her helpers have started to 
transfer items across in readiness for its intended use as a source of information and access to the 
Museum’s digitised records. 
 
Access will be by appointment with the Curator, details of which can be found on our website.  
The new build is wheelchair accessible. 
 
It is proposed that we transform the old drying green in front of the new room into a sensory 
garden as a further visitor attraction. 
 
WOODEN GARDEN STORE WITH LIVING SEDUM ROOF 
This building, created using green oak from Fife, is as much a work of art as it is a practical and 
most welcome garden store.  Credit must go to Peter Kushner for his creative design and expert 
construction and of course to Gillian Falconer for her generosity in providing  the  means  to 
embark upon the project. 
 
MUSEUM GARDEN 
The garden has been transformed by the creation of a sponsored rose border, and the rockery.  
The border in front of the Wilson Garage gates has been replanted.  Our thanks again to Gillian 
for her unstinting support. 
 
The iron work is in the process of being repainted and the two old shop pillars that originally 
stood in front of TT Fordyce, have been  restored  and  erected  in  the  main  garden.   John  
Henderson, the Blacksmith responsible for the metalwork, has offered to hold a  fundraising  
event  at  his workshop later this year to raise money so that we can have the relief work picked 
out in gold leaf to match the others in town. 
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PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 

Convener John Peacock 

 

The most significant planning application to be dealt with by the Trust in 2014 must have been 

that for the New Madras College. Given the nature and status of this application this was given 

special status and dealt with outwith  the  normal  meetings  of  the  Planning  Applications  

Committee.  As I have no doubt the Chairman will wish to cover this in his own report, I will 

restrict this report to the regular work of the Planning Applications Committee. 

 

As mentioned in last years report, the number of planning applications notified by Fife Council 

for the St.Andrews area has been steadily increasing year by year and 2014 was no exception.  

The total number of new submissions during the calendar year numbered 392 an increase of 28% 

on the previous year. Once again this number includes a number of applications for HMO licence 

renewals and tree cutting which generally do not affect the Committee as  these  are  usually 

automatic approvals by council officials. 

 

The Committee generally meets on a fortnightly basis to consider applications since the previous 

meeting though holiday periods can disrupt this schedule which can  result  in  difficulty  in 

meeting the time constraints placed in respect of response times to applications submitted.  This 

is particularly true over the holiday periods of December/January and June/July/August when the 

largest number of applications tend to be submitted (possibly in the hope that responses  will 

become time barred??).  This was true in 2014 when a total of  one  hundred  and  fifty  three 

applications were submitted over those periods. 

 

During 2014 the Trust chose to object to a total of twenty-six applications the majority of which 

were for internally lit or oversized shop signage or  were  related  to  replacement  of  timber 

windows by uPVC windows.  Many of these latter applications, I assume, result from aggressive 

marketing by window suppliers and the wish of property owners to install double glazing on 

what may have been single glazed sash and case  windows.  Whilst  the  wish  to  upgrade  is 

perfectly understandable, there are a significant number of property owners who have opted to 

install timber sash and case windows with double glazing to match their existing windows.  This 

is a preferable option, though possibly a more expensive one.  Unfortunately our objections to 

uPVC windows in order to comply with the requirements of the St. Andrews Design Guidelines 

are not always supported by the Council’s planning officers.  Our objections to internally  lit 

signage are normally supported; however, we need to remain vigilant on this matter. 

 

Another objection of note was our objection to Tesco’s request for signage on the frontage of 

their Market Street premises which we considered to be inappropriate for this central location in 

the Conservation Area.  In this case the application was refused though we note that Tesco have 

gone ahead notwithstanding (it may even have been installed prior to refusal being notified) and 

we shall now have to pursue enforcement action to have this removed. 

 

A number of refused applications have this year been appealed  by  the  applicants, the most  

significant of which have been for the West Sands Visitor Centre (a much needed facility), the 

formation of an opening in the wall to the rear of the Garden Area at 8 Queens Gardens and the 

redevelopment of the former police station site in North Street (the outcome of which are still 

awaited). 
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Whilst no confirmation of appeal has been received to date, we have heard  that  the  refused 

application to extend Rusacks Hotel may also become the subject of an appeal. 

 

The development of the Western Extension of St.Andrews appeared to be a step closer with an 

application for a scoping opinion for a proposed mixed use development at Craigtoun North for a 

proposed 300-350 new homes and 2000 square meters of food retail, together with landscaping 

and ancillary works. 

 

During the year internal discussions were held with a view to strengthening the Trust’s planning 

application review function which resulted in an approach to Dundee University Planning Course 

personnel to see if there were areas of mutual interest to both the University and the Trust in the 

participation of both post graduate and undergraduate  students  in  the  Trust’s  appraisal  of 

planning applications affecting St. Andrews. 

 

I am pleased to report that for the latter part of 2014 we have had the input of students  from 

Dundee at our planning applications meetings and such input has been of assistance to the Trust 

in both the appraisal of applications and in formulating responses to applications submitted. 

 

I would like to conclude this report by  thanking  the  members  of  my  Committee  for  their 

continued and regular participation at our fortnightly meetings to assess and comment on the 

applications received. Their local knowledge and technical input  is  an  essential  element  in 

undertaking this work. 

 

 

 

POLICY AND RESOURCE COMMITTEE 

Convener Dr Peter J Murray 

 

As noted in last year’s Report, the new Policy and Resource Committee was established in late 

June 2013. Its primary role is to undertake the detailed development of policy issues, to plan for 

the future of the Trust, to deal with the  Trust’s  general  and  financial  management  and  to 

recommend courses of action to the Trustees.  Its core membership comprises the Chairman and 

the other Committee conveners.  The Committee’s first task was to develop a short Strategic 

Plan, which the Trustees adopted in October 2013. The Plan (which is mounted on the Trust’s 

web-site) identified seven key Strategic Priorities and Projects and these formed the basis of the 

Trust’s work throughout 2014. 

 

The Committee continued to give detailed consideration to the monthly financial reports from the 

Treasurer.  As normal, the most important fundraising event was Hidden Gardens Day which 

took place on Sunday 29 June.  While the income was down very slightly over 2013, all in all it 

was a very successful day.  Almost 50% of the Trust’s income comes from dividends and interest 

from our portfolio, which still does well under the management of Speirs and Jeffrey in Glasgow.   

 

One of the  Trust’s  key roles  is  its  activities  in  the  area  of  civic  planning  and  detailed 

consideration was given to the levels of human and financial resource which  the  Trust  was 

currently putting into that area of work.  It was agreed that additional funding should be provided 
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to buy in professional support in the form of a planning consultant, as and when required, and 

very useful contacts were developed with the staff and students of the Department of Town and 

Regional Planning of the University of Dundee.  Staff from that Department have kindly agreed 

to provide  pro bono two training sessions for Trustees and these will be mounted early in 2015. 

 

An important new development was the construction of  the  Trust’s  first  institutional  Risk 

Register. The language of business does not always sit comfortably in the world of charities but 

in this instance it makes sense for us to be aware of the key risks which face our organisation and 

to give some thought as  to  their  potential  impact  and  how  they  may  be  mitigated.  The 

formulation process in many ways forces thought about the security of the Trust and that can 

only be beneficial.  The Trustees approved this version of the Register and agreed that  it  be 

reviewed and, if necessary, updated annually. 

 

As noted above, the Committee regularly received and considered reports from Lead Trustees on 

their progress in taking forward the seven Strategic Priorities.  Most of these will be covered 

elsewhere in the Annual Report but one in particular concerned the Committee, namely the fate 

of the garden of no. 1 Greyfriars Garden, currently a disgraceful eyesore in the centre of the 

town.  Thanks to very generous funding by an anonymous benefactor, the Trustees are now in a 

position to take forward the matter of its purchase, with a view to establishing a well looked-after 

public garden.  A final formal offer will be made to the garden’s owner, who to date has been 

unwilling to sell or indeed to maintain the garden at anything approaching a satisfactory standard. 

Should this offer be declined, the Trust will seek to explore other stratagems with Fife Council. 

 

Given the Trust’s principal role in preserving “for the benefit of the public, the amenities and 

historic character” of St. Andrews, since its foundation in 1937 it has  played  a  key  role  in 

recording and explaining the history of St. Andrews, both through its publications and  more 

recently also through its Museum.  The Trust’s own records  (including  its  Newsletters  and 

Annual Yearbooks and Reports) are, therefore, key primary sources for the town’s recent history. 

Recognising  this, the Trust has now passed large numbers of its paper files relating to  civic 

planning matters for safe-keeping and cataloguing in the  archives  of  the  University  of  St. 

Andrews.  Additionally all Board minutes from the Trust’s foundation up to (so far) 1999 have 

been electronically scanned by the University and mounted  on  the  world  wide  web.   It  is 

anticipated that other paper Committee records will also be scanned and thereby protected.  The 

paper copies of all these records will continue to be held in the Trust Office.  The Trust is very 

grateful to the University’s Department of Special Collections for their pro bono assistance in 

this area.  Finally the Trustees have agreed to give  one  of  their  number  responsibility  for 

oversight of the Trust’s non-current records on an on-going basis. 

 

Remaining in the sphere of history, a very fulsome tribute to Dr Ronald Cant, one of the founders 

of the Trust, was identified in the Board’s minutes for September, 1945.  Dr Cant chaired the 

Board during the Second World War; he was a Trustee for many years; he became an honorary 

vice-president in 1974 and he wrote many articles on the history of St. Andrews, a large number 

of them gathered together in the Trust’s publication, Three Decades of Historic Notes.  The 

Board minutes indicate that the tribute was delivered to him but it does not seem to have survived 

in his papers.  Accordingly, it was agreed to present the Strathmartine Trust (Dr Cant’s principal 

tangible legacy) with a framed copy.  The well-attended and well-received presentation took 
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place at the Strathmartine Centre on 10 December, where the tribute will now be permanently 

displayed. 

 

Possibly it would be appropriate to end this report with Dr Cant’s own rather wistful words on St. 

Andrews.  These remind us forcefully just how important the work of the Trust has been and 

indeed continues to be: 

 

“Set on its long headland, against the background of sea and distant hills, with its spacious main 

streets, its quaint wynds and closes, its long vistas of pinnacles and towers, it is one of the most 

beautiful cities ever created”. 

 

And as such, it will always need protection against those who, unwittingly or not, move to spoil 

it. 

 

 

 

PROPERTY REPORT 

Convener Mr A W Johnson 

 

During the course of the year our Doocot off Doocot Road St Andrews has been cleared of all 

foliage to avoid any damage due to the spread of roots. 

 

Remedial work has been undertaken at the Burgher Kirk. 

 

The flat roof to the rear of the office has been cleared of ivy and debris.  Stuart Niven & Sons the 

builder is due to examine the roof and report back as to its condition, detailing any recommended 

remedial work. 

 

A smoke alarm system has been fitted at the Museum and the  Office  at  the  request  of  our 

insurers. A smoke detector as well as an intruder alarm were fitted to the new Research room. 

 

A five lever lock has been fitted to the outer door of the office.  This was a recommendation in 

the Crime Prevention Officer’s report. 

 

 

 

 

 

In the name of the Trustees 

D G Wynd 

Chairman 



Toll Cottage, showing the keeper’s  booth  

opposite the toll-bar, operational 1809-1879. 

The farmhouse at Rathelpie Farm, one of the  

many burgh farms that formerly surrounded 

St Andrews. 

A History of Hepburn Gardens. 
 
By Elizabeth Williams 

 
As the history of residential building in St Andrews goes, Hepburn Gardens is not very old at all. 
For centuries the town was confined within the boundaries of the rocky ridge between the sea and 
the Kinness Burn. Gradually the western suburb of Argyle developed beyond the West Port,  
occupied mostly by burgh farms and trades; but the lands further west of the town, known as 
Rathelpie and Middleshade of Rathelpie, remained farmland which from the 12th century had 
belonged to the hospice of St Leonards. When St Leonards became a college in 1512, it took with 
it its  endowments,  making  it  the  wealthiest  part  of  the  university.  Then,  following  the 
Reformation, in 1569-70, the priory lands also (the ‘Priory Acres’) were transferred to the United 
College of St Salvator and St Leonard, so that the university (or the ‘United College’, as it was 
known until recently) became the sole beneficiary of the income from these  large  areas  of farm-
land. 
 
Of comparable importance in the medieval economy were the watercourses, in this  case  the 
Kinness Burn which flows south of the present-day Hepburn Gardens and roughly parallel to it. 
The Mill Lade or Lead, constructed on level ground near the burn from which it drew its water, 
was clearly intended to run mills, for grain or cloth. Most if not all were built by priors across the 
ages, with the dual intention of providing food and other commodities for local consumption as 
well as income for the priory; and most if not all were acquired by the burgh at some point after 
the dissolution of the priory. The lade itself may date back to the beginnings  of  the  priory,  
although the first certain mention of it is in 1479. The two surviving mills within the burgh 
boundary, the Law Mill and New Mill (now Plash Mill), date from the mid 16th century at the 
latest, and must be among the earliest buildings in the area. (Don’t be misled by the date of 1658 
on the east gable of Plash Mill: this may have been a rebuilding, or even  been  re-used  from 
elsewhere, since the first mention of the mill goes back to 1550.) 
 
Perhaps as old as the mills are the farms scattered along the road into town; for, while there is no 
documentation to date them, it is obvious that from their inception both town and priory needed a 

40 

Arlen
Stamp

Arlen
Stamp



The mile-

stone outside 

no 106. The 

other face 

gives  St 

Andrews as 1 

mile, meas-

ured to the 

Town Hall, 

that is, the 

Tolbooth in 

Market 

Street. Impressive Victorian construction: no 7, by 

Gillespie and Scott. 

41 

ready supply of food within the immediate vicinity. The surviving farm buildings are probably 
17th century in construction, but since much vernacular  building  used  the  same  style  and 
materials over a long period of time, some may be older. All appear to have been on the south 
side of the road, no doubt to take advantage of the fields sloping down to the lade. The present 
nos. 28-30-32 are on the site of Rathelpie Farm, and their arrangement round an open yard must 
reflect the original layout. No 32 (The Taft) was the farmhouse, with a rather handsome gable 
facing the street, in front of which there is a less carefully built single-storey addition. This has a 
central doorway flanked by a window on each side, all now crudely blocked up in brick,  the 
purpose of which is not at all clear.   Parallel  to  it,  no.  34-34a  was  the  original  steading, 
unfortunately demolished and rebuilt – quite possibly without planning permission – in the 1960s
-70s and now devoid of much historical interest. A much smaller farm existed at the present nos 
6-8-10, a row of cottages standing at right-angles to the street, as at Rathelpie Farm. Confusingly, 
these cottages go by the name of Rathelpie Row, though the various 19th-century maps show no 
connection between the two properties in terms of land. Nos 6 and 8 were apparently a dairy, 
with the farmhouse at no 10. Another, more substantial, farm which  operated  into  the  20th 
century was Croft-an-Righ, at the junction with Double Dykes Road (on the site now occupied by 
The Park flats) which had a number of steadings and a circular horse-mill as well  as  the farm-
house. This still stands at the roadside, with the name ‘Croft-an-Righ’ painted on the wooden 
garden door next to it. The cobbled path down to Cockshaugh  Park  seems  to  be  a survival of 
the farm complex although the setts themselves are very regular and may have been reset. 
 
The cottage west of Croft-an-Righ (now no 2) is of similar vintage to the farm buildings just 
discussed, so is probably of 17th-18th century date, and together with no 4 may have been part of 
one of the neighbouring farms. In the early 19th century it  was  given  a  different  use  as  a 
tollhouse for the newly  established  turnpike  roads  to  Ceres  (by  Balone)  or  Cupar  (by 
Strathkinness Low Road). 
 
The road itself, however, predates the turnpike system by a long head: from the West Port 
through the suburb of Argyle, it was the obvious route south, via Ceres and Kennoway, to the 
ferries at Kinghorn, Pettycur and Burntisland which crossed the Forth to Granton  and  so  to 
Edinburgh. On its way out of town, the road forded the Kinness Burn at Little Carron before 
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The lively facades of the ‘Tartan Terrace’. Reworking the vernacular at New Mill in the 

1990s. 

taking off via Dewar’s Mill across the high ground of Magus Muir – known to us now as the 
Bishop’s Road in memory of Archbishop Sharp, murdered as he crossed the muir in his coach in 
1679. Hepburn Gardens in fact marked the beginning of the Bishop’s Road. It is impossible to 
know how far back this route goes, though it must date from the days of St Andrews’ importance 
as the ecclesiastical centre of Scotland and is therefore almost certainly  medieval in origin. 
 
What sort of a road would it be? Since it was suitable for the archbishop’s coach, it was probably 
a cobbled highway. By the later 18th century,  however,  after  several  centuries  when  the 
maintenance of roads depended on the somewhat haphazard system of  statute  labour, changing 
economic conditions necessitated wider – sometimes new - roads and better surfaces, which were 
to be financed by tolls. Toll roads came late to St Andrews, perhaps reflecting the  economic 
stagnation of the town at this time. The Turnpike  Act  of  1807  established a number of tolls in 
and out of St Andrews; and a toll bar –the Argyle Bar - was installed outside Toll Cottage (no 2) 
in 1809. The small addition on the east  side  of  the  cottage was the tollkeeper’s look-out, and 
the remains of the weigh-bridge can still be seen in the setts. At the same time two new roads  to 
Ceres were created replacing the gradients of the Bishop’s Road: the present Strathkinness Low 
Road, to the north of the ridge, and the Balone–Pitscottie–Ceres road to the south. 
 
As a consequence of road improvement, milestones and wayside markers became frequent, and 
after 1831 compulsory, on turnpike roads. Fife is renowned for the large number  of  surviving 
stones, and the milestone outside no 106 is a fine example with  its  cast-iron  cap  set  on  a 
whinstone base. The cursive script of the lettering, the use of fractions of miles, and the fact that 
Burntisland is given as the ferry port enable us to date this stone to 1843 or shortly after. (This 
was when a new deep-water pier at Burntisland and a coast road linking it to Kinghorn made the 
neighbouring smaller ports all but redundant for the  crossing  to  Granton.  This  route  was  
distinct from the Queensferry crossing which, although shorter, served mainly  the  Edinburgh-
Perth traffic at this time.) 
 
Traffic would approach the town through open country as far as the Argyle suburb, with roadside 
farms being the only signs of habitation until the 19th century. (The present Argyle Street too had 
a number of farms: the late Gordon Christie remembered five farms between St Leonard’s 
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The tower of St Leonard’s church provides a 

welcome accent in the streetscape. 

Arts and Crafts at Priory Acres. 

Church and the West Port.) The earliest private house seems to have been Law Park, well over a 
mile from the town centre. Here again, as at Plash Mill, ‘evidence’ can be misleading: the date of 
1620 on a stone on the front of the house looks excitingly early, but is not borne  out  by  the 
surviving deeds, the oldest of which refer only to the ‘Law Miln Head Acre’. There is no mention 
of a building on the site until 1830, when the owner, a Professor of Hebrew at St Mary’s College, 
the Rev. Dr. George Buist, details the  ‘cottage  House,  Garden and pertinents called Lawpark 
Cottage’ which he had built a few years earlier. He was obviously doing quite well because in a 
codicil to his will of  1856  the  cottage  has  become ‘the Villa and grounds of Lawpark’, and 
this larger house is clearly indicated on a survey map of 1843. It is slightly puzzling why the first 
residence along the road should be perched on the edge of a considerable escarpment whereas 
later houses were built to take advantage of level ground stretching behind them to the south. 
Perhaps it was the only plot available at the time: it had  been  bought  at  auction  by  the  St 
Andrews freemasons in the 1790s, and they for whatever reason sold it in 1822 to the Rev. Buist. 
The next house to be built, in the 1840s, was Balnacarron, on ground to the east of Lawpark. 
Here too the land slopes away from the house making any gardens very steep, though much of 
this land down to the lade was in use as a nursery laid out by  the  botanist  Charles  Howie 
probably about the same time. The residents of Balnacarron used more level ground to the east as 
a tennis court (now the site of nos 112-114, built by the architect Frank Sproson for himself and 
his family in 1954-55). Closer into town, the house and grounds of New Park are shown on the 
1843 map; this, and Gordon Lodge of about 1870 (no 66), seem to have been the  only  other 
private houses along the road at this time. 
 
It would be nice to know what factors brought about the building of these substantial residences 
so far from the town centre, when other mid-19th century development had stayed as close to the 
centre as possible. With their expansive grounds and roomy interiors, they have more of the 
country house than of the town house about them, with the added advantage that, although out of 
town, they were on a well maintained road. Then in 1878 came  the  abolition  of  the  tolls,  a 
universally popular move. Within two years no 1 Hepburn Gardens had been built opposite 
Rathelpie Row, completing the square of houses formed by what are now Kennedy Gardens and 
Wardlaw Gardens, built in the 1860s and 70s safely away from the toll bar. The original name of 
no 1 – Viewmount – is a very clear reminder of how rural the area was at the time: its  upper 
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windows had unrestricted views towards Drumcarrow Hill. Surprisingly, Viewmount did not set 
a building trend; only Bellevue (nos 62-64) was built about this time, next to Gordon Lodge, that 
is, almost  at  the  fork  with  Buchanan  Gardens. After that, there appears to have  been  no  
further development until about 1894. Why? was it because the university was unwilling to sell 
land  which  brought  in  useful  income from rents? A survey of university lands dating from the 
mid-19th century indicates that some fields generated the funds for certain bursaries, which 
would support this theory. What might explain a change of policy in the early  1890s  which  
allowed land to be released was the appointment in 1890 of the energetic Principal Donaldson, 
who reinvigorated the university with new buildings and new appointments. At any rate, as from 
1894 there was a steady stream of building in this part of the town until the outbreak of war in 
1914. This did not by any means happen on a predictable east-west line, however. The first of the 
new houses seems to have been the double villa at nos 9 and 11, built in 1894-95, leaving a gap 
which was filled by no 3, then shortly afterwards by nos 5 and 7. This left another gap where St 
Leonard’s church would be, and an even wider gap which would not be filled until the 1920s by 
no 8 Donaldson Gardens. This haphazard availability of building land no doubt helped create the 
variety of housing along the street, whether villas, double  villas,  short  terraces, the flatted villa 
at nos 46-48 or the highly unusual back-to-back double villa at nos 54-60. 
 
The double villa was a favoured design which gained in popularity throughout the second half of 
the 19th century. It allows of a robust construction  three  rooms  deep,  as  at  no  7,  by  the well
-known St Andrews firm of Gillespie and Scott (1897), and the  symmetrical  façade gives it a 
distinct grandeur, as at nos 9-11, a fine example with double-storey bay  windows set centrally in 
a generously proportioned façade. This double villa was constructed by James Scott in 1894, and  
he and his descendants have occupied no 11 (Rokeby) continuously since then. Interestingly, the 
very next house - no 13, the eastern half  of  a  double villa – was built by the architect David 
Henry as his family home. The local firms of architects were kept busy in the years up to the 
Great War, but it is heartening that  their  commitment to St Andrews (for both the above were 
active in other parts of the town too) went as far as building their own homes here. 
 
On the south side of the road, nos 54-60 were built in the late 1890s just into town from Bellevue 
and are architecturally unique in forming a back-to-back double villa, with identical front and 
back elevations (so that no inhabitant should feel underprivileged?); in building terms, four 
houses under one roof makes very good sense. There is obviously a strong connection between 
this villa and the near-by Rathelpie Farm: it was built, probably by David Henry, in about 1895 
for George Gray of Rathelpie Farm and the whole block was called Rathalpin, clearly a variant 
on Rathelpie. (Above the front door of no 56 one can still read: Rathalpin No 3). But was this 
land already owned by Mr Gray?  The  1843  survey  map  indicates the land between Bellevue 
and Rathelpie Farm as belonging to the United College; would a small farmer like Mr Gray have 
been in a position to purchase land and build on it? 
 
In 1901, on the recommendation of the University Court, both Hepburn and Buchanan Gardens 
received their definitive names. The old toll road had been referred to simply as the ‘Turnpike 
road from Ceres by Ballone (sic) to St Andrews’, and the name ‘Hepburn Gardens’ was initially 
intended to apply only to the inner – developed – branch of the road, the outer being referred to 
as the Mount Melville Road which is how it was known as late as the 1940s. Beyond the junction 
of the two roads, building at first proceeded in  an  orderly  fashion.  Between 1901 and 1910, 
four double villas were built on Buchanan Gardens (nos 2-16), but then there was no  more  
building along this stretch until after the Great War. On the Mount Melville Road,  double villas 
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appeared on both sides (nos 33-43, and 76-90) with the larger villa at Lettoch (no 31) occupying 
the plot in the fork. A few years earlier, however, Gillespie and Scott had constructed a  terrace  
called  Middleshade Cottages (nos 61-67) not, as one might have expected, near the junction but 
towards what became Middleshade Road. The term ‘cottage’ may sound like a misnomer to us: 
each had three bedrooms, with a bed recess in the kitchen, a sure sign that there would be a live-
in servant, while the larger L-shaped no 67 turning the corner into  Middleshade  Road,  had  a  
separate servant’s bedroom and WC. (The ‘cottage’ had long since shed its rural connotations, 
and could be applied to even quite large houses: for example, the  later  Gowrie  Cottage  (no  73)  
is  a substantial Mills & Shepherd villa.). 
 
While double villas and the occasional terrace (nos 38-44) continued to fill  some of the gaps, the 
significant works of the years 1902-1908 were the large villas of Wayside, The White  House, 
West House, Priory Acres and New Mill (in order of construction), and the  new  parish church 
of St Leonard’s with its manse across the road. The villas stood in grounds of between one and 
three acres, and were all built on the south side; those west of the path down to the mill (known 
as New Mill lane) also benefited from the larger area of level ground  between the road and the 
Kinness Burn escarpment, creating impressive lawns and gardens in the approved Edwardian 
fashion (in other words, labour-intensive! – as indeed were the houses). In 1902 Wayside, one of 
the most distinctive private buildings in St Andrews, was designed in an imaginative Arts and 
Crafts style by Sir Robert Lorimer – his only domestic work in St Andrews. New Mill, built by 
Gillespie and Scott in Scottish Baronial, confusingly took over the name of the old mill. The 
other three villas were all designed by the Dundee firm of Mills & Shepherd.  Each  is  quite 
distinctive, no doubt reflecting the client’s wishes: while The White House, built for Norman 
Boase, the Dundee merchant who later became provost of St Andrews, and Priory Acres, for 
Alastair Valentine (of Valentine’s postcards, also based in Dundee), are clearly influenced by the 
vernacular revivalism of the English architect C A Voysey, West House uses the castle plan of an 
L shape with the entrance in the recess while sharing with the  others  an  elegant  two-storey 
window. (It is curious how often new properties perhaps rather arrogantly appropriated names 
already in use: we have already noted New Mill; Priory Acres of course originally referred to a 
whole area, just like the 1861 Rathelpie Villa on Kennedy Gardens.) 
 
A further striking addition to the Hepburn Gardens streetscape at this time was the construction 
of the double villas affectionately known by locals as the ‘Tartan Terrace’ (nos 14-24). They 
were  originally called, collectively, Toll Park and were built by Gillespie and Scott between 
1906 and 1910. The combinations of (very red) brick and harling, crowsteps and balconies create 
a bold contrast to the grey stateliness of the 1890s houses. And one can only imagine the impact 
they made as they rose between the modest stone buildings of the neighbouring Rathelpie farm 
and dairy! Shortly afterwards came another innovative building type: a flatted villa, possibly 
unique in St Andrews (nos 46-48). Its irregular and strongly articulated façade is deceptively 
compact for each flat had three bedrooms and a maid’s room; but it was obviously not a type 
which found favour. 
 
No doubt under the direct influence of Principal Donaldson, the university began to use land for 
its own development. In 1896 it opened University  Hall  on  Kennedy  Gardens  for  women 
students. And in 1902 it finally resolved the odd situation at the University Chapel, which the 
academic body had shared with the congregation of St Leonard’s parish ever since St Leonard’s 
College had been united  with  St  Salvator’s  in  1764.  It  cannot  have  been  a  very  happy 
arrangement, with the members of the university being crammed into the western gallery. So a 
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new parish church was built on land that had been part of the original St Leonard’s endowment. 
The university not only gifted the land but also contributed substantially to the building costs. 
The Neo-Romanesque design  by  the  architect  P  MacGregor  Chalmers  of  Glasgow  was 
considered suitably austere for a Presbyterian church and was also more economic to build than 
Gothic flourishes. For some reason, the tower was built higher than originally intended, which is 
not very Presbyterian but which gives it great presence in the streetscape of Hepburn Gardens. It 
would be interesting to know how much of the land  originally  belonging  to  St  Leonard’s  
College (which, as noted earlier, was considerable) was gifted to the new parish at this time, for 
there are references in the transactions of later properties to land having been bought from the 
Church of Scotland rather than the university. 
 
The next university development was the creation of the playing fields on land at Langlands 
which one might have thought would already belong to the university, since it certainly owned 
much of the land in that area. We learn however that in 1904 Andrews Carnegie gifted over 9 
acres for the ‘Recreation Park’ as well as the pavilion, then called – quite properly - the Carnegie 
Pavilion. Even if the financial arrangements here are a little confusing, the playing fields are a 
further example of the expansion taking place in the university in the early years of the century. 
Like the new parish church, built to free up space in the university’s own place of worship, it 
points to a new confidence after the decline of the 19th century. (On the 1912 Bartholomew map 
of St Andrews, the road that runs alongside the playing fields is shown as Carnegie Gardens - 
again, a nice tribute to the university’s benefactor; in 1921 however the university decided that it 
should become St Leonard’s Road since it was  ‘almost  in  the  middle  of  the  parish  of  St 
Leonard’s’.) 
 
Up to the outbreak of war in 1914 the remaining private housing was very much in the nature of 
infill (scarcely the word, perhaps, for such generous plots). Two further villas were built on the 
remaining plots of land on the south side - The Ridge (later Hepburn Hall) built by Gillespie and 
Scott in 1912 for David McGaw; and the house at no 108 that has gone through a number of 
name-changes, starting off as Howbury (built in 1913 by Mills and Shepherd for Councillor Fan 
Montgomery) before answering to Chattan Lodge, Strathyre and today, since its conversion to 
flats, Montgomery Court. Each had extensive grounds going down to the lade (which since the 
early 1890s, after the culverting of the lade itself and the planting of the area by John  Milne, 
became the Lade Braes Walk). Almost opposite The Ridge James Scott built the imposing double 
villa of nos 25-27, dating from 1910. No 27, Parkgate, marches with the playing fields and its 
name clearly refers to their original name of Recreation Park. 
 
As everywhere, building ground to a halt on the outbreak of war, not to resume until the 1920s. 
Three of the first post-war houses on Hepburn Gardens all share one peculiarity: their strange 
relationship to Hepburn Gardens itself. To look at Drumskaith (8 Donaldson Gardens), built in 
1921-22 by Mills and Shepherd, and Little Hayes, on St Leonard’s Road, of 1923 and by the 
same architects, one supposes them to have been planned as belonging to the main street: each 
occupies a corner site, with the front garden wall forming a continuous line with its neighbour. 
Drumskaith in particular faces the street with its  generously  planned  façade  and  spacious 
south-facing garden (Mrs Warren-Wynne had given instructions that ‘all rooms were to face the 
garden’) . The same unorthodox arrangement occurs at The Shambles (18 Middleshade Road), 
built probably in the mid-1920s, in the building line of Hepburn Gardens but with its front door 
on Middleshade Road, just like a later house – no 79 – which has its entrance on Murrayfield 
Road but faces south to the main road. In this instance, the house sports a Hepburn  Gardens 
number! 
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Most inter-war building now took place on the north side of the road, with deep gardens in front 
rather than behind the houses, to take advantage of the southerly aspect. It is not clear at what 
point in the 1920s nos 71 and 73 were built; similar to Drumskaith with a wide frontage and set 
well back from the road, they are indeed by the same firm of Mills and Shepherd. 1924 saw the 
more adventurous design of Gerrard’s Cross (no 91), built – again by Mills and Shepherd – for 
Colonel Hunter, whose active interest in the plans was not entirely appreciated by Donald Mills, 
to judge from the anecdotes. With its broad eaves and cottagey first floor, Gerrard’s Cross clearly 
harks back to the Arts and Crafts designs of twenty years earlier, as seen for example at Priory 
Acres. Mills’ next house was next door, though on the east side of Gerrard’s Cross -  another 
example of ‘gap’ development (though, again, a very generous gap): Ashtead (no 89) reverts to 
the solid, broad-fronted style of so many of the Mills and Shepherd houses. As well as these  
sizeable properties, two smaller houses belong to the 1920s, both apparently intended  as  an 
appendage of the ‘big house’ across the road. No 87, dated 1924, was the chauffeur’s house for 
Howbury (Montgomery Court), while the name of Priory Acres Cottage (no 77) speaks for itself, 
with the ground floor obviously built round the outsized  garage.  As  late  as  the  1930s  the 
occasional property was still being built for staff: in 1934 no 85 (originally Harefield) was built 
for the gardener of Philip Boase of Lawpark. 
 
By this time few gaps were left, but those that were gave rise to a phenomenon relatively new in 
Hepburn Gardens: speculative land purchase. Certainly, there  had  been  some  speculative 
building earlier: the Tartan Terrace was one such case for, despite  the  beautifully  designed 
interiors of these houses, their exuberant exteriors were perhaps a little alarming to prospective 
buyers; and the other terraces may well have been built ‘on spec’. Larger purchases of land seem 
to have been new to the area in the 1920s, however. In 1924 the local architect William Hill 
Walker bought land on the north side of the road from the university on which he subsequently 
built no 51 (sold to Miss Mark in 1932 for £50) and the four semi-detached houses nos 53-59, 
built 1934-35. (The large villas nos 45-47-49 appear to pre-date the 1930s, but it has not so far 
been possible to establish when, and by or for whom.) This group of houses all benefit from a 
generous division of their backlands which favours the Hepburn  Gardens  properties  at  the 
expense of those of similar date on Buchanan Gardens. Acquisition of land on a considerably 
larger scale was made on the Murrayfield Road site. It is not clear whether this was initially 
bought by Mrs Montgomery of Mavishaugh, or by her son, Major Montgomery; certainly he had 
acquired it by the early 1950s, when he began to sell plots for individual houses as well as the 
strip required for the new street, sold to the Town Council in March 1953. He also claimed the 
honour of naming the street. In all he sold 15 lots: both sides of the street, with the exception of 
the pre-existing Priory Acres Cottage. A reputedly more eccentric purchase of land across the 
road from the main residence was made, perhaps even before the First World War, by Mr Pirie at 
West House who, so family legend goes, bought the field opposite the house so that he could 
have a view of the sea. This site, no 75a, now has the most recent house to be built on Hepburn 
Gardens. 
 
Among the most architecturally adventurous houses of these years are the flat-roofed double 
villas which stand in a group, well hidden from both Hepburn and Buchanan Gardens (nos 81-83-
83a and 54-58 respectively). Although one unit in each block has since been subdivided, they 
have retained the clean lines and attention to detail associated with 1920s Bauhaus work. They 
were most probably built as a joint project in the late 1930s; but were they the result of client 
pressure, or another venture by Gillespie and Scott – on the lines of the Tartan Terrace – into 
speculative experiment? In either case, they are further proof of the architects’  versatility  of 
design. 
 



In the years since the 1950s much garden ground has been built on while the original house has 
often been divided or flatted (or, in the case of Balnacarron, turned into a care home). And it goes 
without saying that speculative build has now indeed become the norm, with builders secure in 
the knowledge that housing in a relatively privileged part of the town will sell very nicely. The 
preference for detached houses with smaller gardens has prevailed, though in several cases it has 
been possible to maintain a sizeable area of garden ground while at the same time designing an 
attractive modern house. The thoughtful use of a familiar vernacular style at the new house called 
New Mill (exceptionally today a specific commission built by the architect Michael Scott) has 
great charm in the context of the streetscape. In some cases, as in Balnacarron Avenue, it has 
been possible to preserve the mature trees which sometimes date back to the construction of the 
original house. This makes an important contribution to the character of the main street, which 
has to its south the semi-rural Lade Braes and at its west end the small but well-maintained Boase 
Wood, gifted in 1963 by the Boase family to the St Andrews Preservation Trust. 
 
In the scramble to track the chronological development of the street, not enough has been said 
about the extraordinary range of inventiveness within the format of the single, double or terrace 
house. Each combines the architect’s own trademark characteristics with his client’s demands; 
some have their own building-line, giving scope for different types and depths of garden; and 
some only reveal their true character from the rear garden side. It is  not  possible  in  a  brief 
account to do justice to this lively variety of building styles, many of which reflect influences 
from the wider world of architectural practice. Hepburn Gardens can be seen as a microcosm of 
building styles from late Victorian, through the Arts and Crafts villas of the early years of the 
century and the four-square inter-war houses, to the light and often minimalist houses of the last 
decades. Quite apart from, or possibly as a branch of, the actual building history, there is much to 
be done on the social history of the street. Only the briefest mention has been made here of some 
of the people who commissioned these houses, especially in the earlier days: the colonels, the 
businessmen, the tradesmen. 
 
Although the subject may look relatively straightforward, it is a breeding ground for confusion: 
records can be incomplete, or inaccurate; some plans were never registered with the Dean of 
Guild, presumably meaning that some quite large houses were built without planning permission, 
oh horror! An alarming number have changed their name (some several times) over the years, 
making reference to them complicated (as with New Mill, originally the name of the mill, then of 
the 1908 house, after which the name migrated to the new house built in the grounds in the 
1990s). And the history of house-numbering along the street merits a chapter of its own. The 
pioneering research on architects and their work in St Andrews carried out first by Ronald Cant 
and latterly by John Frew and his students has proved invaluable; and I have benefited  from 
conversations with John and with Robert Smart, among many others. Just as valuable as official 
records, however, are the reminiscences and information handed on by individuals; and I am 
most grateful to the many people who have so willingly lent me documents which have often 
shed light in unexpected places and helped fit together a few more pieces of the jigsaw. 
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